Editorial: 

STRUGGLE FOR WHAT?
· Shameema (named changed), a half-widow enquired; how participating in the monthly sit in of the APDP will benefit her. 

· A severely tortured young religious minded person while narrating his woeful tale in our office, enquired, how he will he be benefited.

The victims of state terrorism often ask these questions. There seem to be more concern about the immediate relief and rehabilitation from the state, than to take the perpetrators to justice. There are several reasons behind it. Categorizing the victims, the majority are from the economically and educationally backward community which is most vulnerable to human rights violations. They are obsessed with SRO 43 or the monetary benefits even if it is provided by the perpetrators like the army. There are rare examples we have observed where the survivals refused the “blood money” from the state. The irony is that in most of the cases the army after launching the “Operation Sadbhavana” is being approached by the victims for peanuts. They are being used for the propaganda. The survivors least knowing it’s far reaching consequences. They invite wide-scale disapproval, indignation and sometimes condemnation from the society which is unable to provide some relief to them. They can’t be blamed for the “compromise” as it is seen by the people. They have no choice and alternatives to mitigate their sufferings. Civil society has failed them including the religious leaders who could have mobilize the support for the victims. The rapidly multiplying religious institutions could have been assertive in this behalf. The Christian institutions have done commendable philanthropic work in their societies but the religious leaders here are mostly busy in rituals and promoting their sects. It is shameful and shocking like observing survivors to finally forgetting the injustice, like a woman whose only source of family income i.e. her husband was subjected to custodial death four years back was seen dancing in a Congress held rally in backward area of Kupwara where a minister had to attend a public rally. It is so awful and painful to see victims begging to the perpetrators and political collaborators responsible for their misery and helplessness. Besides, ignorance also there are cultural problems, as victims accept any injustice committed to them probably, it is an Asian phenomenon. In many conflict zones, the perpetrators have been morally isolated and de-legitimized by the resistant leaders. The political leaders and civil society have miserably failed to do so here. They also failed to out-govern, out-administer and out-control the state on the contrary; the state is over-governing the state of J&K directly, through proxies and now partly through NGOs. Nonetheless, there is a silver lining as victims are still holding processions, demonstrations or any other form of agitations. Nevertheless, they have been doing it from last 20 years but have failed to get organized. 

The victims of economically well-off sections are always choosing individual options like approaching the politicians and administrations for their grievances which least makes any difference as they are equally helpless before the excesses committed by the army who are ruling the roast. Hitherto, there is not a single inspirational example set by any individual’s struggle for seeking justice. The victims get disappointed and withdrawn seeing the long drawn struggle made by the rights groups and civil society against the state. State has got immune to these voices. At the beginning of the conflict any urgent action by the Amnesty International was taken seriously by the government and informal action will flow; now it is ignored. It is not only the financial status but the awareness, which is needed to educate the victims about their internationally recognized rights for example victims believe that killing of their relative who happens to be a militant after arrest is not a crime or providing even shelter food to the combatants under compelling circumstances is also not a crime. Survivors feel grateful to the perpetrators for different reasons, like minimizing the level of oppression by the perpetrators is also taken as gratitude by the people like not mutilating the bodies of the victims after killing or like handing over the body to the relatives rather disappearing them or for detaining innocent persons under PSA and not killing him. Even the politicians also claim that the level of violence has gone down which they relate with normalcy which in local parlance means if in early 90s there were wiping of the whole family but now half of the family massacred.   

In early 90s at the beginning of the resistance movement any death was causing wide-sale indignation in the valley was widely mourned any single death causing wide-scale indignation and now it becomes number. People are indifferent and the deaths have become the family issues unless there is not any gruesome or gory incident. We are conscious of the fact that connecting people is the most gigantic task and the unity of the victims can only redeem them and evolve them into a political force themselves. Hardly, there are not victims in any village, town or mohalla and where the families do not possess torn tattered photographs / documents compiled in the files to show it to the journalists and researchers. For researchers Kashmir has become an ideal place.

Throughout history survivors were accepting injustice. During conflict after the mid 20th Century or in modern times in the era of globalization which means globalizing responsibilities, justice for survivors is now an international concern. Notwithstanding, at the same time the UN International Protection Mechanism for the Protection for the survivors are proving so far meaningless. But the survivors can redeem themselves by organizing themselves, pleading for the justice and not the politicians who claim to be the custodian of the martyrs and victims.   

SOG KILLS 10th CLASS STUDENT DURING AN ENCOUNTER, LABELING HIM MILITANT

On June 17, a 10 standard student, Bilal Ahmad Dar son of Abdul Aziz Dar resident of Narwora village, Tehsil Beerwah, in the central Kashmir district Budgam was killed by the SOG personnel during an encounter with militants. However two militants were killed in the shoot out. Police claimed that the slain student was also a militant, where as the residents and the victim family refuted their claims. In the inexorable firing around 15 cattle were also shot at and injured by the SOG. 

The killing incensed people of area and triggered massive protests in the whole Beerwah area, which lasted for three days. The protesters voiced anti troops and pro-freedom slogans and demanded for the justice. In the police action against the protesters dozens of women and children got injured. Even police filed cases against some youth of the area on the charges of infringing law and order during the protests.

Shortly after the occurrence, the reporter of The Informative Missive visited the area and talked to the victim family about the incident. 

FAMILY STATEMENT
Bashir Ahmad Dar, elder brother of the deceased Bilal said while recounting whole episode to The Informative Missive, “On the ill fated day of June 17, the troops comprising of SOG, Army and police men launched a cordoned operation in some of our nearby villages like Chewdara, Mirpur. They had information about the hiding of the militants in the area. Around 3pm fierce firing broke out in the area, all the villagers left their houses and rushed to safer places. Bilal was not in the house for the last three days because of having some brawl with his father. On June 14 he had some argument with his father for which he left house. Since then he started to remain out of the house and was staying at his friends houses in the village. During the day he did remain outside the village to avoid his family view, but in the evening he was returning to the village and staying with his friends. I could have brought him back to home but till he was killed I was unfamiliar about his presence in the village. We deemed that for the resentment of the family he might have gone to some of his relatives’ house and would return after his anger would simmer down. But we did know that he would leave, never to return.”

He further said, “When the firing broke out, he was in the Mirpura village and fled towards own village, Narwora. The firing was going on to counter the militants who were seen in the vicinity of Mirpura. After Bilal reached to the native village, he entered into one of his neighbor’s house and had a glass of water. Some women of our village had told him to move back to Mirpura for his safety, which he obeyed. Meanwhile someone informed my mother, Raja about Bilal’s presence in the village she also ran towards Mirpur. Fleeing Bilal was stopped & inquired by the SOG men upon reaching on a small peak lying between Narwora & Mirpora. This was witnessed by one of the resident of Mirpura village namely Abdul Hameed Shah, as he resides few meters away from the spot. The militant were also hiding in proximity to the spot. After SOG men detained him amidst a fierce exchange of fire broke out between the militants and SOG men, which lasted for half an hour. Lastly the firing ended up with the killing of two militants and my brother. Before my mother could see her son, he was shot dead. He was shot two bullets in the chest, whereas the duo militants were penetrated with innumerous bullets and their dead bodies were distorted wholly.”

“The SOG men fired furiously all around the villages. In addition to the killing of trio the SOG men also shot at and injured 15 cattle of the village. The resonance of the firing terrorized the whole area. The troopers then took all the three dead bodies in their captivity and claimed that they gunned down three militants. Along with the two militants of LeT my brother was also portrayed off as militant of LeT, which is totally unfounded. It was apparent that my brother was shot dead separately but not with militants. The bodies of both the militants were disfigured completely by the bullets. However my brother’s dead body was flaxen and had only two bullet marks on the chest, which depicted that my brother was not killed with militants.” griped Bashir Ahmad, brother of the slain Bilal.

Abdul Aziz, father of deceased Bilal wailed, “When the villagers heard about Bilal’s killing, they got enraged and broke to the streets and started to protest against brute forces of SOG. The protesters and my family pleaded a lot to collect the dead body but they refused and took it into their possession. Besides militant’s dead bodies my son’s dead body was also taken to district police line Budgam. On the same day we along with residents of the area approached police station Beerwah in the form of a procession and sought the dead body but police told that they would locate his body and told us to come tomorrow. Next day we again visited police station Beerwah in the form of a procession and demanded the dead body, which was refused by the police. Then the protesters hold sit in on the Beerwah-Budgam road and outside the Tehsil office. There occurred a clash between the protesters and police and in the clash dozens of women got injured. After the strong protests the Deputy Commissioner, Budgam, assured us for giving the dead body. Lastly the dead body was handed over to us at around 4pm from district police lines Budgam. From where we brought it to our native village, performed its funeral rites and buried it our native graveyard.”

“My son was studying in 10 standard and had to appear in the bi annual examination of Matriculation. Last year he got failed in two of his subjects and during these days he was preparing for those subjects, but the swine forces did not spare his life. Apart from his studies he was also working as an artisan of Embroidery and was earning for his studies. I have three daughters and had two sons, among all of them Bilal was most sharp and diligent. Cops of SOG shattered all my hopes and forever divested my beloved son from me. He was in no way involved in any flawed activity and was not associated to any militant or political group. His character and association can be ascertained from the whole village. If anybody would say that he was involved in militancy then we would say that his killing was reasonable. He was innocent and was killed cold-bloodedly. There is a Pakistani militant operating in our area, whose name is also Bilal. We believe that SOG personnel might have considered my son as the Pakistani militant (Bilal) and killed him ruthlessly without knowing his credentials. For this disbelief my son’s dead body was not handed over to us instantly after the incident.” Bemoaned Abdul Aziz while recollecting the memories of his son.

“Soon after the occurrence of the incident, police station Beerwah lodged an FIR, stating that three militants were killed in the encounter. We refuted those claims through the media but due to the fear of the dire consequences, we didn’t file the counter FIR. Fear always looms over us and to avert the further harm, we refrained from filing a case against the guilty forces. Even we did not apply for any relief, even though our concerned MLA had offered us to apply for the relief. We don’t want to sell the blood of our innocent brother”, ended Bashir Ahmad Dar, elder brother of the deceased.

PROTESTS

In the evening of June 18, After Bilal’s killing in fake encounter, police did not provide dead body to the family. This enraged residents of the area; hundreds of villagers took the streets and held a strong protest demonstration. Police refused to provide the dead body to the family as they had claimed Bilal as a militant. The protesters were told by the police to come tomorrow till the dead would be located. Next day on June 19, morning, the agitated protesters rushed towards Beerwah in a number of vehicles, assembled outside the police station and Tehsil office, rasied anti troops and anti administration slogans. The college students, school students and dozens of women accompanied the protests. A group of protesters blocked the Beerwah - Budgam road but again police station Budgam rejected to hand over Bilal’s dead body to them. Police refusal infuriated the protesters and they routed to clash with them.


To disband the protesters Police lobbed teargas shells and thrashed the people. In the clashes, around 40 women and some students, who were among protesters, sustained injuries in the police action. The protesters said the police used choicest tirade and dragged them out of buses and beat them up. Local news agency CNS said police hired services of RR and CRPF to quell the protesters. 

 
Lastly the protesters held a sit-in outside the office of Deputy Commissioner Budgam. It was on the intervention of senior civil officers that police handed over the body of Bilal to the people from District Police Lines Budgam at around 3pm. Finally the family took the dead body to their native village performed it’s last rites.

After few days of the protests police arrested 16 youth from Narwora and it’s neighboring villages. After some questioning four of the youth were released, however, 12 were booked under different FIRs. Among the 12 youth six belong to Narwora village and rest six are from Gonipora, Mirpura and Malapora villages. 

The youth belonging to Narwora village are:

1. Riyaz Ahmad Mir, S/o; Mohammad Ramzan, an 11th standard student.

2. Gulzar Ahmad Mir, S/o; Abdul Rasheed, a Carpet weaver by profession.

3. Imtiyaz Ahmad Bhat, S/o; Abdul Rasheed, Carpet weaver.

4. Ashiq Ahmad Dar, S/o; Mohammad Amin, Embroidery Artisan.

5. Mashooq Ahmad Wani, S/o; Abdul Hameed, 11th class student.

6. Latief Ahmad Ganaie, S/o; Khazir Mohammad, Embroidery Artisan.

Against the said youth, a case is lying in the Magam Court. The youth are subjected to severe persecutions. The youth who are under study are compelled to miss their classes on the days of hearings in the court and the youth who live below poverty standard and assist their families, have to take leaves from their respective vocations on the days of attending the court. The cases have made the life of the youth miserable and they are anxious about their future.

The locals of the village said that the youth were selectively implicated in the false cases. The reason for their entanglement is the occurrence of the encounter in the vicinity of the said villages. But police on the pretext of attacking the Tehsil office and police cops charged the youth. However, the protesters hailed from the whole Beerwah Tehsil.  

OFFICIAL VERSION     
Senior Superintendent of Police, Budgam, Syed Ashiq Hussain Bukhari on June 18 claimed that Bilal was a member of the Lashker-e-Toiba outfit who died in an encounter along with two more LeT militants at Chewdara, Beerwah. Police, also said five cops were injured when the protesters pelted stones on a police post.
DILEMMA OVER THE KILLING OF THREE YOUTH
On June 24, Army killed three persons in Uri sector and claimed that the persons were killed while entering to this side of LoC. The slain were identified as Irfan Ahmad Ganaie son of Mohammad Sidiq of Onagam, Bandipora, Fayaz Ahmad Khan son of Ghulam Mohammad of Lawaypora, Bandipora and Javed Ahmad Bhat son of Ghulam Mohammad of Qalamabad, Handwara. The news about the killing of trio enraged inhabitants of entire Bandipora area. People resorted to strong protests over the killing of the youth and observed complete shutdown in the whole area.

Soon after the incident, the reporter of The Informative Missive visited the area and talked to the victim families regarding the incident. The families contradict the Army statement and said that first army arrested the trio youth and later killed them in custody. 

Raja Begum, mother of Fayaz Ahmad Khan said, “"I insisted my son to return because several boys who had crossed the line of control were allowed by the Indian army to return to this side of Kashmir. However, some of those who were coming to live a peaceful life were eliminated by the army". 

 
Fayaz had crossed the line of control a few years ago for arms training. During these years, he worked as a manual worker there. After seeing people being granted safe passage, his family insisted him to return and subsist a peaceful life with his family. Keeping up his promise, he returned, but the irreverent army troopers killed him, notwithstanding knowing fully that he was unarmed, revealed Fayaz’s family. 

“My son came here for peace and not for the war; I want to question Chief Minster why my son didn’t return alive to me? Why his bullet riddled body was handed over to me by the army?” questioned Raja Begum.


While talking to the family of Irfan Ahmad Ganai resident of Onagam, Bandipora, his mother Hajra, 55, said, “On the fateful day of June 24, we got a phone call from police station Bandipora and were informed about the killing of Irfan and two other boys in Uri. We rushed to the police station Bandipora where they told that the trio youth including Irfan got killed in an encounter on the LoC, Uri, while they were infiltrating. My sons, Mohammad Saleem, Mohammad Shafi, their uncle and some police cops of police station Bandipora rushed to Uri to receive the dead body of Irfan. They identified the dead body in the police station and brought it to Bandipora. The body was tormented and perforated with innumerable bullets.”

  “On 23rd September 2001 Irfan left home for school but he didn’t return back. At that time, he was studying in 12th standard. We searched him in the every nook and corner but of no avail. After six months, we got a letter from him, which he wrote from Pakistan and informed us about his being well. After that, he called me on phone several times. I advised him to stay there for his life because if he had come back, he would have faced dire consequences. On my advice, he stayed there, “said Hajira. 

“During his first four years I was often called by Commanding officer of the Kaloosa army camp, where army used to inquire me once in a week about Irfan’s whereabouts. The army official of the camp also offered me, if Irfan wants to return to home, we can make a safer passage for his return. I could not tell them anything except reiterating that I do not know anything about him and his activities in Pakistan administrated Kashmir. Consecutively for four years, I visited the said camp on the orders of the army officials. But they found nothing from me and stopped to call me to the camp,” said Hajira. 

Giving account of Irfan’s dead body Irfan’s cousin said, “After examining Irfan’s dead body, we found that the right side of his face was scorched and his body was brutally tortured and pierced with countless bullets. As we found the explicit torture marks all over his body, it appears that he might have been tortured to death in custody and then shot”.

Hajira further grieved,” If the troops had to kill my son, they had to shot him, but not killing him in such a brutal way. My pray to almighty is that my son’s soul should rest in peace. I don’t want to take any kind relief or rehabilitation from the ruthless administration. I don’t want to sell the blood of my son and I spit on such bogus support. I don’t know whether my son was killed in encounter or in any other way, but I pray to God to give me justice and punish the guilty”.

Regarding the incident, on June 25 a local English Daily Greater Kashmir had published a story-quoting father of one of the slain youth but the eccentricity is, the person who had been quoted has died eight years back. The concerned family contradicted the statement given in the daily. Hajra said, “I contest the news which was published in a local daily on June 25. The news had quoted my husband who has died eight years back. The reporter who had given the story had not visited our house.’’ 

The relatives of another slain youth, Javed Ahmad Bhat son of Ghulam Mohammad of Qalamabad, Handwara stated that his body was not handed over to them. Police at Lawadara, Bandipora, buried his body. His family members protested against this and demanded that the body should have been handed over to them, so that they could have given him a proper burial. 

RAPE ATTEMPT BY SOLDIERS

PERPETRATORS PARADED NAKED BY LOCALS 

June 26: For the first time since the outbreak of insurgency in 1989, civilians caught Army men who tried to outrage the modesty of a 17-year old girl in her house during daytime on June 26, and later paraded them naked for five kilometers from Gujjar Pati Kunan to Bandipore town and strongly resisted police force to hand them over for four hours and in this resistance 30 protestors were injured.

 
Reports said, two Army officials Nayak Kalwant Singh (belt number 17419879) and Nayak Gadminder Singh (belt 15205987) of Military Intelligence Unit of 57- Rashtriya Rifles barged into the house of Muhammad Rafiq Gojri at Pati Kunan June 26, afternoon and introduced themselves as militants and attempted to rape his daughter. 

“The two army men in civil dress entered our house in the afternoon demanding food and shelter. They asked my mother to leave and tried to rape me. However, I resisted by raising alarm and screamed on which my neighbours rescued me from the clutches of these beasts”, media quoted victim as saying.

 
Revealing her ordeal, she alleged that this was the third attempt of rape on her by these army men. But due to their fear I didn’t tell about the earlier attempts to anybody. On June 26, they tore off my clothes and beat me up savagely so that I keep my mouth shut but I screamed, the victim said. 

In a statement to the Station House Officer, the DSP Ghulam Jeelani, and the local MLA at Bandipora Hospital before a media channel, the victim revealed the whole horrendous account as:

“At 3.45 PM they came in civilian clothes and said they have to search the house. I told them they should be in the uniform and yesterday I had seen both of you in uniforms. They said our two men have been killed and we have been ordered to search the newly constructed house, which is ours. They asked my mother to send me into the rooms with them, but I asked my grandfather and mother to come along. The duo asked the grandpa and mother to leave and one of them pounced on me and tore my clothes (here the victim bares her chest showing the bruise marks). The other one was waiting outside the room. Then I raised a cry and people came to my rescue.” 

Victim’s uncle on hospital bed, face covered with bandage and one of his eyes swollen after being beaten by the police.

 As soon as the word about the incident spread in the area, people in large numbers assembled near the house of the victim in Gujjar Pati Kunan and caught both the Army men. According to media, after shaving off their heads and smearing their faces black, both the men were paraded naked for more than five kilometers. 

Further, it reported that after police reached the spot, the police officials asked the protesters to hand over the officials to them, however people refused saying, they will punish them themselves. On this police resorted to baton charge and fired numerous teargas shells to disperse the protesters who offered stiff resistance and clashed with the policemen. At least 30 protesters were injured after police resorted to firing. 

Sub Divisional Police Officer (SDPO) Bandipore Ghulam Jeelani told media, “Police resorted to aerial firing. “ If we had not done so, people would have killed the duo.” When asked about the charges under which the accused had been booked, he said, “We will book them as per the allegations leveled by the people.”

People from all walks of life joined the protesters who marched peacefully and staged dharna in front of the office of the deputy commissioner. The Tehsildar on the orders of the DC met the elders who handed over a list of demands to the DC. The residents demanded that the accused soldiers caught red handed should be punished; the camp of 57 RR battalion should be removed from the area; soldiers should stop coming in the guise of militants into homes; and a probe should be ordered into June 26, police firing on protesters.

It has become a routine that soldiers pose as militants and come to our homes and demand food and shelter and then next day beat us, the protesters said.    

The visibly upset victim arrived in the court with her relative Salima Begum.

Salima (35) told media the victim’s mother is suffering from heart ailment and couldn’t come to the court.

Recalling the sequence of events, she said the army men attempted to rape the girl in the room bolted from inside by the accused.

It was due to the efforts of women from Gujjar Patti that we rescued her by breaking the door open otherwise they would have raped her. Even now her condition is such that it looks as if she was raped by them, said Salima.

Salima further said that after breaking the door open, the victim was rescued and army men were caught by the women.

Meanwhile, police officials clarified the names of the accused soldiers as Nayak Kalwant Singh (belt number 17419879) son of Mohan Singh resident of Karalian in Ramgard Jammu and Nayak Gadminder Singh (belt 15205987) son of Baldev Singh resident of Bringhar, Raikot Ludhiana. 

In earlier reports, the names of the accused were mentioned as Joginder Singh and Daljit Singh of 57- Rashtriya Rifles.

However, Brigadier of the 81 Mountain brigade, V Garg told media that people took Army officials who were on a routine patrol as hostages. 

Women protesters from Patti Kunnan told media that their life has become difficult for them as army men are always on prowl and their movement to the fields or venturing out has become difficult for them and now they feel even vulnerable to remain at home after on June 26 incident.

A widow Rafiqa, 35, of Ganie Mohalla while recollecting the June 26 incident said, “Both the soldiers first entered into my house and asked nonsensical questions, but some how I resisted, after leaving our house they barged into the house of the victim. “    

Another eyewitness Maimoona said, “After barging into the victim’s house the soldiers ransacked the house and forcibly threw out her parents. They beat up the victim, tore her clothes and tried to outrage her chastity.” She further said, “Three days ago some soldiers posing as militants entered into a Masjid and thrashed the Imam. These people have unleashed a reign of terror in the entire area.”

 According to the protesters had people not reached on time the accused soldiers would have succeeded in their nefarious design?

The protesters were pacified after Tehsildar assured them that stern action would be taken against the accused troopers. Sub Divisional Police Officer (SDPO) Bandipore, Ghulam Jeelani told media, “The duo has been arrested and FIR no 122/07 and a case of attempt to rape and other sections have been registered against them. The accused would be presented before the court on June 28.”

Commandant of Mountain Brigade V K Garg told media that the army has filed a case under its own rules and if found guilty, both of them would be punished. Brigadier Garg, however, on June 26, told media that people took army officials who were on routine patrol as hostages. Joginder Singh and Daljit Singh of 57- Rashtriya Rifles, the accused, were caught when they attempted to rape the victim in her home. People had cut their hair, smeared their faces black, stripped their clothes, and paraded them on the streets.

Taking note of attempted rape by Rashtriya Rifles troopers, Army on June 27 ordered a court of inquiry into the incident with a pledge that human rights violation won’t be tolerated.  

 
Assuring that it would be a through and impartial inquiry. In case somebody has done a mistake Army would not condone it, GOC 15 Corps Lt Gen Sikhon said.

Earlier in his address, the Lt Gen admitted occurrence of human rights violations by Army saying these things happen in disturbed areas. However, he warned the troops that violation of any kind would not be tolerated and dealt with strongly. 

On June 29, Army has registered a case of “attempt to murder” in Police Station Bandipora against the protestors who had manhandled the troopers after they were caught
Meanwhile, on June 29, SHRC took a serious note of the incident. SHRC chairman Justice (retd.) M Y Kawoos has asked DGP for a detailed report about the case by July 30.

MOLESTATION BID BY SOLDIER SPARKS DEMO IN QAZIGUND

June 15: Accusing a soldier of molesting a woman, hundreds of people staged a big protest demonstration against army in Qazigund area of Islamabad district on June 15. 

Local news agency CNS quoting locals said the trooper barged into house of a carpenter Bashir Ahmad at Qazigund and attempted to molest his wife (name withheld). She resisted his attempt and raised an alarm, which caught attention of her neighbors. In the meantime, hundreds of villagers assembled outside her house and tried to catch the soldier, who managed a retreat with the help of his colleagues. 

Later, the villagers blocked the Srinagar-Jammu highway and staged demonstrations against army. Senior police officers and Tehsildar Qazigund Ghulam Mohiuddin pacified the protesters assuring action against the accused. 

The CNS quoted Superintendent of Police Kulgam Som Prakash Pani saying such incidents won’t be tolerated.

Pani says police is investigating the matter.

However, the army refutes the charge of molesting any girl in the said area. According to defence spokesman, “some miscreants were involved in the incident and not the army men”.    
CRPF MEN MOLEST DISABLED GIRL
June 23: Accusing paramilitary CRPF troopers of molesting a disabled girl, residents of Chairwan, six kms from Kangan, staged a massive protest on Srinagar-Leh highway on June 23 demanding stern action against those involved. 

According to the residents, the girl is disabled as she lacks power of speech. 


Raising anti-CRPF and pro-freedom slogans, the protesters staged a sit-in on the Srinagar-Leh highway for hours demanding action against the accused troopers. 

A road opening party of CRPF 158 battalion barged into the house of Abdul Gani Mir (name changed) this afternoon and molested his dumb daughter, the protesters said, adding, if neighbours had not spotted the CRPF men they would have raped the poor girl. 

Later higher officials including Deputy Commissioner Ganderbal G N Bodha reached on the spot and pacified the protesters. Police has arrested the erring CRPF trooper, Bodha told the protesters. 

We have conducted a medical check-up of the girl. It is the case of molestation and we have registered a case under FIR No. 36 and investigation are going on Farhat Jeelani Station House Officer (SHO) Kangan told media. 

A CRPF official said, we are conducting investigations on our own level and facts would be established after a probe.
NOWGAM ENCOUNTER OR FAKE ENCOUNTER  
On June 14 (2007) four persons including a woman were killed in an encounter at Nowgam Handwara. Police claimed that they killed three fidayeen militants of Lashker-e-Toiba during a gun battle at Chakipora, Nowgam and a woman got killed during cross firing. Police claims of killing the militants in an encounter with Special Task Force (STF) at Nowgam were questioned by the residents of Nowgam. Among the slain persons the civilians were identified as Irshad Ahmed Bajad, S/o: Lal Din, aged 25-26, a civil contractor by profession and Fahmida, D/o: Ghulam Mohiudin Malik both residing at Nowgam, whereas the identity of the other two dead was not ascertained.

Regarding the matter, a fact-finding team of PCHR visited the Nowgam area and talked to the two victim families at two different places. First the team visited Potushai village and met the family of Irshad Ahmad and then also met slain Fahmida’s family.

Irshad’s family stated:
On June 14, 2007 Irshad left home for Kupwara to collect payment from Forest Department and R&B (Roads and Buildings) Department. He was a civil contractor. Around 3 pm his family heard that Irshad’s body was lying in Kupwara P.S. Family rushed there. The place where he was apparently killed was Surkot Mohalla Kupwara town. Irshad had been accompanied to the town by Shamsudin who was an eyewitness. 

Shamsudin said, “I stopped at a place for call of nature and Irshad walked ahead and I was about 25-30 feet away from him. When I saw that near a gypsy car and Tata - 407 light commercial vehicle, he (Irshad) was stopped and then I heard some shots were fired and saw Irshad fell to the ground. Bullets were then flying around and I ducked for cover and ran away”.

Altaf Ahmad Bajad, cousin of slain Irshad said, “Irshad had a bullet in his left neck and one in his left thigh. Irshad was innocent and was never arrested or charged in any unlawful activity. He was recently married and was hoping for his prosperous life but fate met him in a wicked way”

Fahmida’s family stated:
My daughter was also shot dead. She was pregnant and had visited maternal house for visiting parents. Fahmida’s house was on the road and from her ground floor window she saw bullets fired she had finished her prayers just before looking through the window. Fahmida’s father Ghulam Mohiuddin Malik said that no one apart from Fahmida and her mother were at home. Almost all the male members of the Mohalla had gone to DC office to collect the rent of the land acquired by the army. She was inside the room where she was shot and the bullet hit on left side of her body. Fahmida’s father Ghulam Mohiudin said, “she while watching the firing from window observed the SOG personnel, throwing a dead body inside the compound. In the meanwhile she was shot and received a bullet on the left side of her body, which caused her instant death. 
According to the family members especially mother Noor Khatoon when she had come out on hearing her daughter’s cry, she found her bleeding profusely and saw soldiers who were throwing a body inside her compound. The tin sheet, which formed the wall between the house and the road, was knocked down and STF personnel threatened the mother to get inside the house or face the same consequence as that of her daughter. 
Neighbours claim that the STF vehicle had been seen on that road since the morning moving up and down. They suspect that two bodies were already inside the vehicle under tarpaulin and the STF was probably looking for a spot to throw them. Irshad may have seen the body while walking past and suspecting that he had seen it, the STF decided to get rid of him. Fahmida saw the incident from the window and she too was shot dead. Post mortem of the dead bodies was not undertaken  

According to the police there were three “foreign militants” who died in the encounter. Since Irshad and Fahmida were locals and their killing incensed public and massive protests grew in the whole area. The identity of other two dead persons could not be established, which are also believed to be civilians. The witness stated that had they been militants, there was no need to enact the drama. The vehicle present there belonged to STF and they stood out in their khaki clothes. 


FIR filed by the police refers to killers as “unknown gunmen”. A magisterial inquiry was ordered. Additional Deputy Commissioner claims witnesses not coming forward.

No post-mortem undertaken.

SLAIN FOREIGN MILITANT TURNS OUT TO BE A LOCAL YOUTH

June 12: A week after Army claimed that it foiled an infiltration bid by killing four unidentified foreign militants near Line of Control at Kangagali in Jammu’s Rajouri district, one of the slain militants has been identified as a local youth, disputing the claim of the Army. 

On June 4, the Army claimed that it had killed four foreign militants and also claimed that it had recovered arms and ammunition from them. However, the Army didn’t reveal the identification of the slain militants. 

Sources said that three days after the encounter, on June 7 one of the killed militant was identified as Zahid Mehmood of Bairhamgalla in tehsil Surankote. The identification of the slain militant was made by his family members in presence of a police party of Manjakote police station led by Station House Officer (SHO) Ashiq Hussain Shah. 

The SHO confirmed that one of the slain militants was a local youth. “One of the four militants killed in the encounter has been identified as Zahid Hussain of Bairhamgalla village. Other three could not be identified, Shah told media.

A senior police official pleading anonymity said, “It strange that Army identified the slain militants as foreigners. Their one mistake can prove very costly for the forces, as the people have already started to doubt our credibility”.

The official said, “Most of the local boys who had gone for training some years ago have started to return and are active in the field, and I am convinced that rest of the killed militants who could not be identified so far were locals and not foreigners as told to media by the Army.” 

Army in last one week claimed that it foiled two major infiltration bids in Rajouri and Poonch districts by killing seven militants. Three foreign militants were killed in Saber Gali area of Mendhar tehsil on May 30, while four foreign militants were killed on June 4, the Army had claimed.

FRUIT VENDOR TORTURED IN CUSTODY
June 23: People of Qamarwari demonstrated at Press Colony against the alleged torture of a youth by cops of police station Maharaj Ganj. 

The protestors said that a fruit vendor Shabir A Khanday son of Bashir A Khanday of Qamarwari was ruthlessly beaten by policemen particularly the Sub Divisional Police Officer (SDPO) Farooq A Zargar in Maharaj Ganj police station. 

The protesters said Shabir was taken to hospital with fractured arms. They said he was not able to walk.

Protestors were demanding action against the SDPO. They also alleged that police lathicharged them when they protested in Qamarwari chowk on June 23, morning. Police high handedness is shameful, the protestors said. We want justice. The SDPO should be suspended.

The Deputy Superintendent of Police, Farooq Ahmad admitted that the youth was beaten. He was beaten because he had occupied the main road at Qamarwari, Farooq told media. When asked whether he himself beat up Shabir, he said, w can’t say anything in this regard.

SKELETON DUG OUT AFTER 10 YRS
June 19: Police dug out a vast portion of land in search of three bodies allegedly buried at no man’s land on Line of Control (LoC) at Peer Badesar, Rajouri but recovered one skeleton, which a woman of Kot Dhara claimed, was her husband Mohd Yusuf son of Raj Mohd.

SSP Rajouri Farooq Khan said the site was dug in the presence of a Magistrate and Board of Doctors after receiving a written complaint from Mohd Farooq that his father had allegedly been killed and buried near LoC at Peer Badesar in October 1997.

Three persons, who were claimed to have been buried, were named by the people as Mohd Aziz son of Sher Mohd, Mohd Aziz son of Mohd Din and Mohammad Yusuf son of Raj Mohd, all residents of Kot Dhara, Rajouri.

Mr. Khan said only one skeleton was recovered after entire area was dug in daylong operation. Wife of Mohd Yusuf claimed that the skeleton was that of her husband.

Sources said there was no reasonable ground to confirm that skeleton was that of Mohd Yusuf except for the fact that it was near the height of her husband. The skeleton was packed and taken to District Hospital for post-mortem. DNA test on it would be got conducted from Central laboratories to establish whether the skeleton was that of Yusuf.

If the DNA test didn’t match, then it will be checked for two other missing persons.

From the grave, police also recovered a ‘salwar-kameez’ with a tag of ‘Made in Pakistan’.

Mr. Khan said all three persons for whom the land was dug were not involved in any act of militancy. After the recovery of skeleton, police have started inquest proceedings under Section 174 RPC and if it was established that it was any of the three persons, a murder case would be registered.

Sources said in October 1997 no killing or encounter was reported in Peer Badesar area during that period. 

Entire process of digging was photographed and video graphed. Headquarter Assistant, Rajouri, Sachin, DySP Headquarters K S Jasrotia, Dr Salaam and Dr Mehmood were present at the spot.
MINOR KILLED IN EXPLOSION IN BANDIPORA
On June 5, a 14-year-old boy namely, Basit Ramzan Malla, s/o Mohammad Ramzan Malla of Gund, Dachun, Bandipora lost his life when an explosion took place in the compound of his house. Whereas, another minor Majid Ramzan Malla 6, a lower kindergarten student and brother of the deceased Basit Ramzan and a woman, Amina Begum, 32, also got injured in the explosion. The incident spread panic in the whole area and police station Bandipora visited the spot and lodged an FIR vide no 104/07 under section 307 of RPC and 3/5 of Ex. Ps Actand stated that unidentified terrorists had hidden some explosive substance in the courtyard of Mohammad Ramzan Malla that caused Basit’s death. Whereas, the victim family says that the explosion wasn’t buried in our courtyard but it was thrown by a launcher from some distance.

Shortly after the incident the reporter of The Informative Missive visited the victim family and talked to them regarding the incident.

Mohammad Ramzan, father of the deceased said, “June 5 is the most inopportune day of my life. Early in the morning my son, Basit, an 8th standard student, left for Madrassa as he was learning Quran there. At around 8:15am he came back to home and was standing near veranda of the house. I was sitting in another nearby house, which is under construction. In the meanwhile a heavy explosion occurred in our courtyard. The explosion was jingled very high and I looked out through the windowpane and found clouds of dust outside. I moved out and saw my son in the pool of blood. All my family members and our neighbors broke to shrieks. I carried my wounded son and ran towards the road and then rushed him to the Bandipora hospital in a vehicle. Doctors in the Bandipora hospital told that they could not handle the case because his body was severely damaged. Then he was referred to the Srinagar for the advanced medical treatment. On the way to Srinagar at Ajas he breathed his last as whole of the blood oozed out from his body.”

He added, “after he succumbed to his injuries we returned back to home from Ajas. Then at around 12noon we performed his last rites and buried him in our local graveyard. In the evening I came to know that my younger son, Majid, 7, a kindergarten student has also received shell on his left leg and a woman in our neighborhood namely Amina Begum aged 32 has also got splinters in her eyes and her eye lens was damaged. In the evening both my son and Amina Begum were taken to the Bandipora hospital for the treatment.”

He further said, “Police personnel including SDPO of police station Bandipora visited our house and inspected the spot. The SDPO said that some explosive material that was buried in our courtyard caused Basit’s death. However, we recovered the bottom of a Shell, which was believed to be fired by the launcher towards our house. There was no explosive substance in our courtyard. It was the fired shell that killed my son and injured two others. I don’t know who fired it and whether it was deliberate or mistaken? But the matter was not probed. I am my self a police constable, but I assert that police did not take the matter seriously and didn’t investigate about the shell, which was recovered from the spot. Police would investigate the matter if we provide money to them.”

Amina Begum, 36, wife of Ghulam Mohammad Mir bemoaned, “when the explosion took place, I was in my lawn and when I heard the blast I cried and ran inside my house. My eyes started to trickle out tears and my eyes got red in color. In the evening I was taken to the hospital where I was given some treatment but the doctors advised me to go the SMHS hospital Srinagar. Next day I went to SMHS hospital and there it was examined that small splinters have damaged my eyes lens. Then the doctors conducted an optical surgery but they failed to locate the splinters in my eyes. Finally they suggested me to go to the Daljit Singh’s Eye hospital, which is in Amritsar Punjab for the advanced treatment. We had no money in that time and then we borrowed money from our relatives and went to Amritsar.  In the eye hospital my lenses were replaced and I was given advanced treatment. We invested around Rs. 1 Lakh in the hospital as the charges for lenses and medicine. We had borrowed the money from our relatives and that is yet to be returned. Still my eye sight is not normal and I am not able to see things properly.”

Taja, 65, Grandmother of the deceased lamented, “my son’s flesh was spotted all our the courtyard. Even we replaced the tin sheet of our shed because that was smeared by my grandson’s blood. What that minor has done? Why was he killed? We don’t need any kind of relief. We just demand that the incident should be inquired and the liable persons have to be punished severely.”

KASHMIRI YOUTH LANGUISHING IN TIHAR WITHOUT TRIAL

           VICTIM’S FAMILY ALLEGED HE WAS MADE SCAPEGOAT

June 7: Mohammad Aslam Wani, 25, by profession a shawl dealer from Hawal, Srinagar went to Delhi for shopping for his sister’s marriage two years ago. Aslam was arrested by Delhi police and labeling him a militant. 


Aslam was the lone livelihood earner for his family comprising his parents and five sisters. After his arrest he was taken to Tihar jail without a trial since then. 


The Special Cell of Delhi police arrested Aslam on August 26, 2005 near Sapna cinema, East of Kailash south Delhi. He was booked under the Unlawful Activities Act and Explosive Substance Arms Act.


The police claimed that Aslam was a “Hawala money carrier for the Supremo of Democratic Freedom Party (DFP) Shabir Ahmad Shah” who has been made prima facie accused in the case, a charge vigorously denied by Shah and the family members of Aslam. 


In Aslam’s charge sheet, the Delhi police claimed they recovered arms and ammunition from him “which were to be used to overawe the sovereignty, integrity, unity of India by committing terrorist and disruptive activities.” 


“During cursory interrogation of Aslam he disclosed that he is working for a banned militant organisation Jaish-e-Mohammad and for Shabir Ahmad Shah. He disclosed that he collected Hawala amount of Rs. 62.95 lacks from one Iqbal of Mumbai on instructions of Shabir Shah, which is kept in his flat in Kailash hills, a part of this amount was to be delivered to Jaish-e-Mohammad for terrorist activities,” the police claimed in its charge sheet. 


“The search for remaining accused Shabir Ahmad Shah was launched and a notice under Section 160 was sent to him to join the investigation, which he refused to take. Prima facie Shabir Ahmad Shah is involved with Aslam Wani. He came in contact with Shah when he installed computer at house,” the chargesheet adds. 


Shabir Shah and Wani however reject the charges as baseless. 


“I don’t even know who this Mohammad Aslam Wani is. So the question of him installing computer or being my so-called carrier does not arise. It seems Government of India had hatched a conspiracy against me. I think they wanted to hamper my participation in the OIC meet and Sweden Conference that year,” Shah told media.


Aslam’s uncle Mohammad Yaseen Wani rejected the allegation of Delhi police that Aslam is a militant as baseless. “We have a handicraft export house recognized by Govt. of India as well as state govt. since 1997 Aslam was working with me and in 2003 he started his own shawl business, Yaseen said. 


He said Aslam has no connection with Shabir Shah. “Aslam has been framed for being a Kashmiri and made a scapegoat in the conspiracy against Shah. After his arrest, he was forced to sign blank papers and tortured”. He said.


“Aslam is suffering from depression and severe chest infection. We don’t have any political agenda; we make a fervent appeal to the mainstream and separatist leaders to prevail upon New Delhi to release all the framed Kashmiri detainees including Aslam,” Yaseen added.   

KU STUDENT LANGUISHING IN TIHAR JAIL FOR 2 YEARS

DELHI POLICE CHIEF GAVE RAFIQ CLEAN CHIT, BUT SPECIAL CELL CALLS HIM THE DIWALI BOMBER

June 12: A student of Kashmir University is languishing in Delhi Tihar jail for the past two years without a trial. He was picked up by the Delhi police from Srinagar in 2005. 

Muhammad Rafiq Shah, 25, who was pursuing post-graduation in Islamic Studies was arrested for carrying out blasts in Delhi on the eve of Diwali on October 29, 2005, on that day he was in the KU campus as testified by the Vice-Chancellor. 

During the night of November 21, the Delhi police cops in civvies, accompanied by Special Operations Group men, barged into our house at Alestang and beat us up. They dragged Rafiq out of his bed and took him away, Rafiq mother Mehmooda Akhtar told Media. 

Next day the family approached local police, which however refused to register a case. Rafiq’s arrest triggered massive protests in the KU for many days. We were shocked when we came to know through newspapers and TV channels that Rafiq has been arrested on charges of planting a bomb in a DTC (Delhi Transport Corporation) bus. On the day of blasts, he was here (Kashmir University) only; he has been framed, his career is ruined, Mehmooda said as she broke down. 

We made many representations to ministers and bureaucrats. They only gave hollow assurances. I want to see my son free, she said. 

Ironically, the Delhi Police chief K K Paul has given Rafiq a clean chit, but its Special Cell claims he is guilty. 

In its January, 21, 2006 issue, The Times of India reported under the headline Truth test doesn’t show Rafiq was 29/10 bomber the claim made by the Special Cell of Delhi police that they have arrested the Govindpuri bomber is fast falling apart. The narco-analysis test of the accused Muhammad Rafiq Shah was perhaps their last hope. But even that has failed to prove that Rafiq was the one who planted the bomb in the DTC bus at Govindpuri on October 29. 

Quoting K K Paul, the report adds that Rafiq does not seem to be the Govindpuri bomber; it seems at this stage that all the bombers have fled the country. Even in annual press conference, he (Paul) has refrained from stating Rafiq was the actual bomber even when Special Cell had requested for test identification of the accused. The Special Cell however insisted that Rafiq was the bomber. As it has not turned out, the only reason was that Rafiq’s face resembled that of the accused in the portrait prepared by the cops.

The sketch of the bomber was prepared on description provided by one Rajiv Sinha who has been made a key witness in the case. The Special Cell had released three portraits of the bomber; one with a French beard, the other with a moustache and the third a clean-shaven one. Finally, they tracked down Rafiq in Srinagar whose face resembled with one of the portrait. 

On December 7, last year, the Delhi police wanted a test identification parade (TIP) of Rafiq in the Tihar in front of the witness. However, Rafiq refused the TIP saying, “I was paraded before many persons in the Special Cell office day before the TIP. My identity is already known to so many. 

Rafiq’s lawyer, Nitish Kumar says the witness cared to keep a DTC bus ticket for two days and remembered so well the face of a man whom he say in a jam-packed bus for a few seconds, two seats away. It is far-fetched to be true. What are the credentials of Rajiv Sinha?”

Professor Abdul Wahid Qureshi, the Vice-Chancellor of Kashmir University, testifies that Rafiq was in classroom of Islamic Studies department on the day when Delhi was rocked by blasts. Rafiq was a regular student. According to teachers and records, on the day of blasts in Delhi he was in classroom. The university has played its role by issuing certificate in this regard to his parents, e said.

BHADERWAH PREACHER IN JAIL FOR 13 YRS

June 13: 14 years in jail mean a life sentence. Abdul Gani Goni has spent 13 years in different prisons. Still, his brothers say, the courts have not pronounced a final verdict in his case. 

Goni, an Arts graduate-turned-religious preacher, was arrested in 1994 in Gujarat. The family says the Gujarat government concocted charges against him. Interestingly, the family doesn’t know fully well why Goni has been jailed for the past 13 years. 

Goni, now 47, son of late Baharuddin Goni of Mohalla Passri old bus stand Bhaderwah had gone to Surat with a religious group of wandering missionaries known as Tabligee Jamaat.

Policemen in civvies bundled him in a Maruti Gypsy from a teashop in Surat and took him to an unknown place. We learnt about his arrest after three months. By then they had shifted him to Jodhpur jail in Rajasthan. And when we met him there, he told us that for 47 days they had tortured him in 4x4 feet cells. He was not given food for many days, said Ali Muhammad Goni, a brother. 

Ali Muhammad said, Gujarat police told Abdul Gani to confess that he was a militant of Harkat-ul-Ansar group. They tortured him more and he has lost eyesight and suffered damage to bones and joints. 

We requested the jail authorities to treat him but they refused, said Vilayat Hussain, Goni’s elder brother, for ten years they shifted him from one jail to the other. We had no money to pay the lawyers. We would labour in New Delhi and collect lawyer’s fees. And if we failed to pay the lawyers they wouldn’t attend hearings.

We met him some days back only after paying a good sum of money to a lawyer. Lawyers loot us or ignore us because we are Kashmiris. Besides, we fear we too would be arrested and framed in fictitious cases, Vilayat Hussain said. 

Tears moistened Vilayat Hussain eyes when he said, perhaps mother is alive only in the hope Abdul Gani would be released, otherwise she is very ill. Gonis have asked Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad to use his good offices and secure the release of their brother.

ARREST OF THREE YOUTH

POLICE, ARMY TELL DIFFERENT TALES
June 14: Conflicting versions were given by army and police regarding the arrest of three youth on June 12 at Handwara, where chief minister Ghulam Nabi Azad addressed a public meeting. 

A defence spokesman said the three youth were plotting to make a bid on chief minister's life with a grenade. 

But Superintendent Police (SP) Handwara Dr Haseeb Mughal said it was not established during investigations that the three had a motive to attack the chief minister. "May be they wanted to carry out an attack on the security forces or police in the town to create panic. Secondly, the grenade was not recovered from their possession at the time of arrest. It was recovered on their disclosure from a house at Doruhpora, some four kilometers from Handwara in the evening," he said. 

According to the SP if the arrested persons had any motive to attack the chief minister or public meeting, they would have brought the grenade with them. But they did not do so. 

Giving details, he said army arrested the three youth in Handwara and brought them to police. One of the arrested youth said he had kept a grenade in a house at Dorushpora. Police and army conducted a raid in the evenings and recovered the grenade. Azad was in Handwara from 3 to 5 PM during which he addressed the people. 

In a statement, the defence spokesman said, "In an operation that averted what would have been a potential disaster, troops of 21 RR have apprehended three persons who were plotting to make a bid on chief minister's life. Troops of 21 RR picked up a local youth of Handwara town, Imtiyaz, who was moving around suspiciously. On being questioned, the individual confessed to possessing a grenade and revealed that he had been instructed to lob it when the chief minister would be visiting the town later in the afternoon. After further questioning, his two other accomplices Sajjad and Akhtar were also apprehended. All the three youth belong to Dorushpura near Handwara". 

There is a contradiction in defence spokesman statement also. He described one of the arrested people as Imtiyaz, a local youth of Handwara town. Later he stated that all the three arrested youth belonged to Dorushpura near Handwara. 

Interestingly the controversy over the plot to attack the chief minister, was triggered off at a time when union home secretary Madhokar Gupta is here on his first Kashmir visit. 

Gupta's visit here was scheduled in the recent past but he cancelled it for unknown reasons. On the day he was scheduled to arrive here, militants carried out major strikes in Kashmir including one near Presentation Convent School and near Sheeri Baramulla inflicting casualties on security forces. 

FAMILY OF ARRESTED YOUTH IN DELHI CONTESTED DELHI POLICE CLAIM,

EVEN JK POLICE AGREES

DEVAR (Lolab) June 18: A visit by a press correspondent to this remote hamlet sparks both surprise and anger. The very first signs of the same are visible as soon as one enters this forgotten village where visitors are rare. Twenty persons of the hamlet surrounded the scribe and started talking, almost unanimously, even before a question could be posed. "He is not involved at all. He is a street vendor, please note down the same." 

They were talking about Mukthar Ahmad Khan, 26, son of Sona-u-allah Khan who was arrested by Delhi Police and claimed to be a Lashkar-e-Toiba militant on June 9. Delhi police on that day said, "We arrested him with 1.5 kgs of explosive device from Azadpur Fruit Mandi." 

The random pleas without any question or even a brief introduction may be baffling in the first instance but they do not seem to be without a reason. A youth says, "You must be from the Criminal Investigation Department (CID) of police and should be collecting details about Khan." The knowledge of the fact that they are talking to a media person surprises them. "Media has never visited our village during the past 18 years. We have witnessed a lot," explains a student. 

Mukhtar Ahmad Khan's home is a six room muddy house with shabby walls. But more unbearable than the shabby walls are the screams of a grey- haired, middle-aged woman, Taja, mother of Mukhtar. "Who will marry these four daughters of mine" cries Taja repeatedly and asks everyone, "what was his sin?" 

The screams gradually mollify as she begins talking. "He was earning Rs 70 to 100 per day and we were feeding the family. He was the lone bread earner in my family," she reveals. 

Khan had left home on June 6 and he was supposed to visit relatives in Pakistan. He had saved the money for three year for the visit.  

"He was eager to visit his relatives and got the passport last year. At the time when he left home he had more Rs 20,000 in pocket. To save the money he traveled to Delhi in a truck," she said.

Not only the village of Khan, but also the whole Devar area is shell-shocked. The only question they ask is, "What is his sin?" and the people say he was not even remotely associated with militancy. "No he was not connected or involved in militancy at all," said a local who is a policeman and is posted somewhere in Anantnag. 

The only law-enforcing agency too had no objection about the Khan. "There is nothing adverse against Khan in our records," said an official of police station Lalpora on condition of anonymity. Devar area comes under the jurisdiction of Lalpora police station. 

The official echoes the stand of the family. "He had a passport issued by ministry of external affairs, Government of India,"he points out, adding, "We are unable to understand what his crime is." The villagers say the same and wonder if Mukhtar Ahmed Khan even knew what an RDX, possession of which he has been accused of, means. 
16000 KASHMIRIS JAILED UNDER DRACONIAN PSA IN 17 YEARS

IMPROVEMENT IN SITUATION 942 JAILED UNDER PSA IN 1990, 920 IN 2006
June 2: Nearly 16000 people have been jailed for two to 10 years by the State government in the past 17 years under Public Safety Act (PSA). The high court has quashed thousands of these detentions during this period. The detentions under this draconian law in the year 2006 are nearly the same as were detained in 1990 when the two-decade long political struggle started. 

Senior lawyers term the PSA as the most abused law. They say the State Legislative Assembly could have easily brought amendments in the law to stop its misuse, but the legislators have maintained criminal silence over the issue allowing its abuse. 

Tracing history of the law, senior lawyer Mian Abdul Qayoom said that in 1977 elections Ghulam Nabi, and then president of Kashmir Motor Drivers Association supported Janata Party. Sheikh Muhammad Abdullah didn’t like it and got him arrested under PSA in 1978. He said Sheikh Muhammad Abdullah introduced the Public Safety Ordinance in 1977 and then on April 8, 1978 it became an Act after it was passed by state legislation. Ghulam Nabi was its first victim. 

In 1978, Qayoom says, Justice M.R.A Ansari was the chief justice of Jammu and Kashmir High Court and he revoked the PSA order against Ghulam Nabi. 

If Sheikh Muhammad Abdullah enacted the Act, Ghulam Muhammad Shah, former Chief Minister made it more stringent by inserting section 10 (A) in it in 1985. 

Earlier, Qayoom says if government had to detain a person it has to produce ten charges against him or her and even if one of the charges was vague, the detention could have been challenged and quashed. But after insertion of section 10-(A), situation changed. Now if one charge is proved correct and nine incorrect, the detention could not be challenged on its vagueness, says Qayoom. 

The amendment made courts virtually defunct forcing the Bar to challenge it. The High Court later ruled that any order of detention could be challenged in the Court of law. 

But in 1987, things changed for worse. The Muslim United Front (MUF) candidates who contested against the National Conference and Congress were arrested and booked under PSA and since then it has been misused like anything. 

In 1990, when governor rule was imposed in the state, PSA got another amendment. The then governor Jagmohan inserted another section in the Act that empowered the state to detain a person in any jail outside the state. Bar challenged it in the High Court and High Court revoked the controversial section and questioned its legality. 

Qayoom said since 1990 the law has been abused to the hilt in the state. The court quashes orders but court orders are not being honored, he said. 

Senior additional advocate general of the State, Muhammad Amin Rathore, has different take on the issue. He says the State legislature has passed the Act and it could bring amendments to make it strong or flexible. But, he says, one has to take holistic view of the issue. If the State has invoked the law for persons whose activities were prejudicial to the State, you should also remember that State has not gone for appeal against the judgments of the High Court, which has quashed thousands of detentions, Rathore said. 

Rathore said, for past five years the State has appealed against High Court judgments quashing PSA detentions. He said the amendment brought by the Governor to shift the detainees outside the State was confined to foreigners only. The number of detainees swelled up forcing the State to bring the amendment, he said. Rathore described argument that detainees are booked on same grounds again and again as misnomer. If detention order is issued against a person second time, it is necessary to mention his past history, which is being portrayed as same grounds Rathore says it is preventive detention and it should not be construed as punishment. 

Mir Shafqat Hussain is lawyer who claims that he alone might have appeared for several thousand cases involving PSA. I pleaded several thousands cases and managed nearly 6000 orders from High Court quashing the detentions on non-application of mind, he said. He however says issue is serious one. It is fact that when you show the quash order of high court to jail authorities, they release them. But inside the jail there is separate wing of police whose duty is to re-arrest the detainee outside the Court. And from here the trauma of detainee begins. He is being confined into illegal detention for months together, he said. He said then they are booked under open FIR 16/2004, then a dossier is prepared against them and sent to District Magistrate who just signs the PSA without questioning the grounds, he said. So, he said, when again the order is challenged the Courts feel no hitch in quashing it because grounds of detention or so vague that one laughs at them. 

Some senior police officers here describe the invoking of law as an example of 澱ad policing. Police has to go for a trial rather than for the PSA to avoid solid investigation said a senior police officer pleading anonymity. He said it was heartening that for past several years things have changed and invoking of the law has not become a routine. 

Former Law and Parliamentary Minister Muzaffar Hussain Baig says no law is bad in itself. But the question is how the law is used. If it is abused by detaining authority it doesn’t mean that law is bad but the person who has used it has wrongly interpreted it, Baig said. 

He however said amendment could be brought into the law that detainees should not be shifted to outside the State jails by a simple majority. But he insisted that its misuse or abuse can be stopped by the detaining authority. 的f the Courts are quashing the detentions orders on the basis non-application of mind, then the concerned officials passing detentions orders should apply their mind while passing the orders, he said. 

The leader of the opposition Abdul Rahim Rather holds the same view. He says law in itself is not bad but the question is it should not be used against innocent people. It is an extra-ordinary law where courts can’t give bail to the detainee but it depends upon the government how to use it, he said. Besides, he said, so far no one has brought any amendment in the Assembly on grounds that it is being misused. 

Parvez Imroz is senior lawyer and human rights activist. He describes the law as Draconian Act and says successive governments have not abused or misused it. It is misnomer that they have misused it. The fact is that they have properly used it to stifle the democratic dissent, he says. 

He says most of the people booked under the Act are political activists and the State government is using the law to break what he says will of people. He said if the study will be conducted how many detention orders were quashed after the expiry of detention then you see in most cases orders were quashed after expiry of the detention. Imroz describes detention under the Act as extra-judicial punishment and said it was within the powers of the State legislature to repeal the Act. It is within the jurisdiction of the state government to revoke the law. No democratic society in the world favors laws encouraging extra-judicial punishment, he said.

FATHER-SON SHOT DEAD
June 8: Unidentified gunmen shot dead a man and his son in south Kashmir’s Pulwama district on June 7, night. 

A police spokesman said the assailants barged into the house of Saifudin Piswal son of Nek Alam at Sanimarg Keller and abducted him and his son, Ghulam Hussain. “After taking the duo along the gunmen shot them dead,” the spokesman said. 

In another incident, he said, gunmen also shot at and injured Lateef Ahmed Piswal, 35, son of Karim Bakhash at Kathallan Pulwama on June 7, night. The injured was rushed to a hospital where his condition is stated to be critical. 

ALLEGED WOMAN HM OPERATIVE’S ARREST

FAMILY COUNTERS POLICE CLAIM 

June 19: Is the young woman arrested by police on alleged charge of being a Hizbul Mujahideen operative actually guilty? Claiming her innocence, the family members of Rukhsana question the police version of the story on several counts. “I am a mother of five and a mother could have inkling if her child has gone astray. My young daughter has done nothing wrong and I have full faith in her,” said Raja Begum about her younger daughter, whom police claimed was an upper ground worker of Hizbul Mujahideen and arrested from downtown city last week. She totally rejected the police claim and termed the allegations leveled against her daughter as baseless.

Police on last June 16 claimed of busting a module of Hizbul Mujahideen by arresting a woman, Rukhsana daughter of Late Abdul Ghani Khan of Waniyar, Safa-Kadal. Police claimed that Rukhsana was an upper ground worker of the outfit. Police later conducted a raid on a computer centre at Barbar Shah Srinagar, claiming it was run by her, and claimed recovery of IED circuits, time devices and other electronic circuits.

“The arrest of Rukhsana has perplexed us,” said Bilal Ahmad, elder brother of the arrested woman. Rukhsana had completed her graduation this year and her family members were pressing her to pursue higher education.

Bilal’s mother, Raja Begum, consoled by another lady, said, “my daughter is innocent. Police are leveling false allegations against her. They are trying to implicate her in false case”. Narrating the sequence of events, Bilal said, “Rs 43,000 of the computer institute (Mega Tech IT Centre, Barbar Shah Srinagar), where she was an employee, was lying with her and she wanted to hand it over to the staff members in the computer centre. She left home at 3 pm on Wednesday and did not return in the evening. We tried to contact her on her mobile phone but the mobile was switched off. For the whole night, we kept on contacting her on mobile but of no avail”.

He said that at around 10 am, the mobile was switched on and our call got through to her. “She received the calls and was crying. I asked her where she was but she was unable to answer. Finally she told me that she had been arrested and detained in Police Station Maharaj Gun”, said Bilal, adding, “I along with other members of my family immediately rushed to the concerned police station. A police officer deployed in the police station told me to come in the evening. When I again visited the police station in the evening, he confirmed the arrest of my sister and allowed me to meet her in his presence”.

Bilal claimed that Rukhsana told her in presence of the officer that while she was on her way to the computer institute, her bag was searched by policemen. 

“She said they found the money (Rs 43,000) and mobile phone in the bag and afterwards arrested her and brought her to the police station”, Bilal said, adding, “after her statement, she was taken back by the lady cops while the police officer showed me the computer accessories that he claimed were recovered from the computer institute, where she worked. One thing that was shown to me 

was a digital Quran and the police officer told me that it is used in detonating explosive devices”.

“How can digital Quran be used to detonate explosive devices”, he questioned. Averring that his sister is completely innocent, Bilal said, “Rukshana was working as an employee of the computer institute. Since police claims that computer centre was found involved, the person, who is the owner of it should have been held responsible for the same and not my sister, who is just an employee”.

“Why is my daughter held accountable for the wrong, if any, committed by the others?” Rukhsana’s mother asks adding, “my daughter is innocent and she should be freed. Insha Allah, we will prove her innocence to everybody”. Expressing full faith in her daughter, Raja Begum said, “My daughter has not gone astray”.

It is pertinent to mention here that police claimed that the computer centre at Barbar Shah was used as a hideout, a meeting point and as a communication centre by the militants. Police claimed that during searches of the institute, IED circuits, timer devices, indicators, power resistance accessories, soldering kit along with solar charging system and thousands of minor accessories were recovered. A case FIR No: 45/2007, Under Section 7/25 Indian Arms Act, 121 RPC has been registered against Rukhsana in Police Station Maharaj Gunj. 

FRISKING IRKS FOREIGNER, CRPF ORDERS PROBE
June 19: A tour operator from Switzerland accused the paramilitary CRPF of harassment in the name of frisking. 

Helen Minder, 50, who has been often visiting the Valley for last four years, says she went to General Post Office (GPO) for checking her postal mail. 

“A woman constable first snatched my bag and then started to frisk me. However, when she pushed hard between my legs, I objected and pushed her”, Helen told media.        

 In the meantime, other CRPF personnel reached the spot. I told her officer that she has misbehaved with me. However, I was shocked when she told me I have even the power to take off your clothes. The CRPF personnel threatened my friend Abdur Rehman of dire consequences when he asked the name of the female constable. We had no option but to leave the spot, she said.


Helen, who is known to Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad and other government officials said, harassment of foreigners in the name of security would in the long run affect the tourist flow to Valley. 

Only thing I fear in Kashmir is police and troops. They are so indifferent with the tourists. I think they have been instructed to harass the tourists, she said. 

Recounting previous cases of harassment by troops, Helen said, troops stationed at Munwarabad stop the cars with foreign tourists on board and tell them we have been ordered by our seniors not to allow you to interior city. On one hand government claims to have restored peace and is wooing tourist to visit Valley and on the other troops and police are harassing tourists. This is sheer hypocrisy. 

I have been to many conflict ridden areas in South America, Tibet, Argentina, but never faced any problems. I would think many times before getting tourists to Valley, she said. 

When contacted, PRO CRPF Prabhakar Tripathi told media that he will look into the matter. We will probe the matter and take appropriate action accordingly, the PRO said.
BSF MEN THRASH TOURIST

June 24: A tourist was thrashed allegedly by Border Security Force men at ski-resort Gulmarg. 

Amir Hussain of Mumbai, who is an employee of Coca Cola, was allegedly beaten by a BSF officer and his escort at Kongdoori after they had an altercation over some issue. 

The BSF officer pushed my father Muhammad Hussain from a platform of Gondola and after I objected, he abused and thrashed me. It was only after intervention of locals they let me off Amir told media by phone from Gulmarg. 

However, as Amir and his family reached Tangamarg market, the BSF men tried to again thrash him. 

I along with my family took shelter in a restaurant. The BSF officer shouted at me come out. I will kill you in an encounter you militant, he said. 

However, police reached the spot and prevented the situation from going out of control. 

Locals said the BSF men are stationed at Pantha Chowk camp here and had boarded two vehicles (TL3C-AA2021, WV02A-2682).  

Police has launched investigation into the matter, however, no case has been registered.

ZAMROODA ALLEGES HARASSMENT IN TIHAR JAIL

SHRC DIRECTS DELHI POLICE TO FILE REPORT
June 22: State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has directed the Director General of Police Prisons Delhi and Superintendent Tihar jail to submit a report regarding the harassment of Anjum Zamrooda Habib of Muslim Khawateen Markaz, who is under detention in Tihar jail.  

The directions on June 21, came on a letter written to the commission by Zamrooda who was arrested in 2003 under POTA, from Tihar jail. 

I am Anjum Zamrooda Habib lodged in jail no 6 in Tihar jail from February 2003. From the day one I have been abused and harassed by some co-prisoners backed by some staff members. From last three years I am continuously tortured mentally and abused by Head Matron Nirmala. She demanded Rs 20,000 from me, which I could not pay. She is beating me everyday without any reason, Zamrooda writes in a complaint to the commission.      

How she (Matron) is doing it (harassment) indirectly by using some convicts Rani, Inderjeet who are in jail for last 12 years and some other criminals. They tease and harass me. Matron Nirmala is behind all this. She refrains the inmates to even talk to me. She calls me Kashmir Muslim terrorist. I am being mentally tortured. I am going in deep depression, which has affected my health. Kindly help me by taking appropriate action as I feel threat to my life, she said in the complaint.    

Admitting the complaint, (Retd) Justice M Y Kawoos has directed the Director General Prisons Delhi and Superintendent Tihar Jail to file a report in the case through DGP Jammu and Kashmir. 

Justice Kawoos told media, if the complaint is true, it is a sheer human rights violation. We will wait for the report and will take action according to law, Justice Kawoos said.   

SHRC RESENTS POLICE CIRCULAR ON HUMAN RIGHTS VIOLATIONS REPORT

IT DELAYS JUSTICE
June 17: Chairman SHRC Justice M Y Kawoos expressed strong resentment over a circular of Police Department, which makes it mandatory for its departments like CID and Crime Branch to submit reports sought by the Commission in human rights violation cases through Police headquarters or Director General of Police. 

The circular has raised doubts over credibility of the reports and causes inordinate delay in dissemination of justice. He (the chairman) sought immediate revocation of the circular. 

“Whenever we receive reports in human rights violation cases from Police department, which are contradictory to complainant statement, we ask its other agencies like CID or Crime branch to probe the matter and file reports. Surprisingly, a circular has been issued from Police headquarters that all reports should be submitted to the commission through Director General of Police”, the chairman said. 

The implementation of the circular has raised doubts over credibility of the reports and causes inordinate delay in dissemination of justice thus defeating purpose of the Commission. The order should be immediately revoked, said Justice Kawoos 

Expressing resentment over half-hearted investigation by police in fake encounters by troops, the chairman said on number of cases, I have observed that police does not carry independent investigation and mostly relies on the version of the involved troops. 

On the recent expose of fake encounter killing of civilians for rewards and promotions by Army and Special Operations Group of Police, Justice termed it as unfortunate, intolerable and brutal. 

Fake encounters in Valley have been taking place from long time. This has been established by Commissions and judges from outside the state. SHRC has been taking cognizance of the fake encounter cases in which police does not act as a mute spectators, he said. 

On Armed Forces Special Powers Act (APSPA), he said, there is no accountability of the troops who enjoy unbridled powers by virtue of AFSPA. Army does not even cooperate in human rights violation cases with SHRC saying we don’t have jurisdiction. APSPA in being extensively misused by the troops and many cases are awaiting sanction. 

Seeking more powers for empowerment of SHRC, Justice Kawoos demanded legislation in this regard. Human Rights Commission across India is recommendatory bodies. Given the human rights situation in the Valley, the government should equip SHRC with more powers for effective dissemination of justice, he said. 

The Justice said government since 2002 has neither provided the Commission with investigation agency nor has granted funds for organizing human rights awareness campaigns by virtue of Protection of Human Rights Act. 

Besides, out of four members we have only two. We are receiving a large number of complaints mostly custodial disappearances and custodial death occurrences belonging to 2002-03, and in May we received such 75 cases. Due to lack of investigation agency and proper staff we face problems in disposing the cases, he said. 

About the implementation of SHRC’s recommendation he said the commission recently received Action Taken Reports in some cases but they are not to our satisfaction. A large number of cases are awaiting implementation. 

People have many expectations from the Commission and it is high time for government to reciprocate by strengthening the commission.

DGP ASSURES HELP TO SHRC
June 19: Director General of Police Gopal Sharma became the first officer of his rank to visit the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) office since its inception in 1997, has assured full cooperation of the police to the commission. 

 
His visit came two days after chairperson SHRC Justice (Retd.) M Y Kawoos expressed resentment over half-hearted investigation of human rights cases by police.

Sharma discussed all the issues with the chairperson assuring him to resolve them for effective dissemination of justice. In an hour-long meeting with DGP, Justice Kawoos criticized the circular of Police Department that makes it mandatory for its departments like CID and Crime Branch to submit reports sought by the Commission in human rights violation cases through Police headquarters.     

The circular has really hampered our working and due to it cases get unnecessarily delayed. People knock doors of the commission for speedy justice and the circular has really put our mechanism of justice at backburner. We don’t even have our investigating agency since 2002 and have to rely on police reports in human rights violation cases. The circular should either be amended or revoked, Justice Kawoos told the DGP.

On the occasion, a member of SHRC, Habib-ullah Bhat said, delay in submission of reports by police tantamount to contempt of the Commission.

After giving a patient hearing, the DGP assured to remove the bottlenecks. We are part of the same system and have to work together for effective and speedy dissemination of justice. The circular was issued with an intention to streamline and ensure delivery of reports to SHRC. We will look into the matter and also provide you with more prosecuting officers. But providing investigation agency will take some time, the DGP said. 

Justice Kawoos later told media, he doesn’t want to take cudgels or raise fingers on anybody. Our aim is to provide justice to the people who have reposed faith on us. There may be communication gaps. Seriousness of police to cooperate with us in this endeavor can be gauged by the visit of DGP to our office.

IKHWANIS IN BANDIPORE FORESTS DISPLACE 30 GUJJAR FAMILIES 

June 28: Away from media glare, the Ikhwanis (government supported gunmen) engaged in counter insurgency operations in the dense forests of Nagmarg-Bandipore have snatched the bread and butter of 30 Gujjar families of Devar Lolab of Kupwara district.

These Gujjars used to graze the animals in Bahaks located in these dense forests. For this, they have the permission from the revenue department.

Deputy Commissioner Kupwara has written a letter to his Bandipora counterpart to shift the Ikhwanis who have forcefully occupied Kothas of Gujjars of Devar-Lolab. The letter mentions that Kothas have been registered with Gujjars for last 30 years according to revenue records. 

The letter vide number DCK/PS/07: dated 28-06-2007 is titled: “Occupation of Kothas belonging to Gujjars of Lolab-Kupwara by some Ikhwanis at Nagmarg-Bandipore."

The letter says, “these Gujjars of Devar Lolab have revenue records for grazing of cattle in the Bhaks and, these too are registered in the revenue records. The Gujjars approached this office and "you" are requested make necessary action for vacation of these Kothas from the clutches of these Ikhwanis.”

Copy of the letter has also been sent to Deputy Inspector General of Police Baramulla for information.

PROTESTERS VENT IRE ON SADHBAVANASIGNBOARDS, KUKKA PARRAY'S SON
Hajan, June 13: Army atrocities sparked off massive and violent protests in this north Kashmir town, once a bastion of pro-government gunmen. Besides demolishing hoardings highlighting Army’s civic activities under operation Sadhbavana (Goodwill), the protesters smashed vehicle of Khursheed Parray, the son of slain counterinsurgent leader Kukka Parray. 

People came out on streets on the morning of June 13 with chanting slogans against the Army and the pro-government gunmen, who they charged have had made their lives hellish. For the past two weeks, the gunmen posing as militants have been barging into our houses and demanding food and shelter, the locals said. On the intervening night Last night, they said, the gunmen barged into the house of Ghulam Ahmed Parray son of Ghulam Muhammad Parray in Syed Mohalla, disguising themselves as Lashker-e-Toiba militants. 

They asked for a horse cart saying that one of their associates was injured and they wanted to take him to a doctor; we tried to resist but to no avail, Parray’s brother told media. He requested not to be named, fearing reprisal from the gunmen. 

 
They took the horse cart and my brother along. But after some time the horse cart returned empty.

The gunmen, according to the people, also barged into the house of Muhammad Ashraf Parray in the nearby Kochak Mohalla and took him along. 

It was not the end: while fleeing the gunmen barged into the house of Ghulam Hassan Rather at Parray Mohalla and asked for food and shelter. Rather refused which infuriated the gunmen and they beat him up. But his family raised a hue and cry and clashed with the gunmen, the residents said. 

The gunmen were supported by the Army as some soldiers accompanied them during the nocturnal intrusions, the people said, a charge denied by Army’s Srinagar-based spokesman Lt Col AK Mathur. 

When Rather’s family raised alarm, people came out of their homes and found the Army men providing cover to them, the locals said. The raids prompted strong protests from the people who took to streets in the morning. They were demanding end to the atrocities. 

When Khursheed Parray, the son of slain counterinsurgent-turned-politician Kukka Parray, reached the spot and tried to pacify the people, his vehicle was attacked with stones. Parray had to run for his life. 

Later the protesters vented their ire on the Hajan police post, forcing the cops to resort to aerial firing. No casualty was however caused, reports said. 

Army handed over two men to us this morning, a police officer of the Hajan PS told media. 

The Sub-Divisional Police Officer Sumbal, Showkat Ali said there were no pro-government gunmen in the area. 

The two men were picked up the soldiers of Territorial Army for questioning. He said, whoever was working earlier with the Ikhwan (outfit of the pro-government gunmen) has been recruited in the Territorial Army.

But Col Mathur, the Army spokesman, denied that Army had lifted the two men. Some miscreants dressed in combat are roaming around and are carrying out such activities to undermine the image of Army, Col Mathur said.

CRPF RAIDS KU CAMPUS

AUTHORITIES TERMS INTRUSION ‘UNWARRANTED’, SAY TROOPS CAME IN WITHOUT PERMISSION
June 15: It was sudden and it was so severe that the entire campus of University of Kashmir was as if under siege Friday afternoon when scores of paramilitary Central Reserve Police Force personnel began frisking the students and checking their identity cards.

With nobody from even the varsity authorities knowing what was happening and why, students’ plight could only be imagined.

“I am scared here,” said Shazia, a student of Education department as CRPF troopers scattered all over the campus began their “operation”. 

The CRPF battalion putting up within the university premises, along with those from the neighboring NIT campus, today launched a search operation at around 1:45 pm and started frisking the students -- both male and female -- demanding identity cards from them which obviously turned the in-campus atmosphere tense.

 
According to reliable sources within the university, the “operation was provoked by a former class-IV employee – Altaf -- who was recently forced by the varsity to go for premature retirement after his involvement in certain scandals was proven.” They said Altaf, who is also associated with the Bharatya Janata Party (BJP) also, has been using various tricks to harass the University authorities.

 
“Whatever happened today has also Altaf behind it,” said a University official who didn’t want to be named for obvious reasons. “We don’t know what he might have told the CRPF people, but they came into the campus and created unnecessary problems there and that too without seeking any permission or even informing the authorities about it.”

 
About Altaf, who continues to reside within the campus, the official said that he has been asked to vacate the campus residence, which he is not doing.

While the students are anguished over the “harassment by CRPF”, and reasonably so, the university authorities too were annoyed for the CRPF action was “completely unwarranted”.

While Chief Proctor, who is responsible for the in-campus discipline and law and order declined didn’t want to comment, Prof Meirajuddin, Registrar, Kashmir University said, “We had no information about the operation but as we came to know about it we rushed to the spot and assured that no student or faculty member is put to inconvenience.” 

K.J. Singh, a student of Law department, blaming the authorities’ laxity for the incident, and so did many other students.

“How could police or paramilitary enter the campus without permission and then harass the students?” asked a group of Law students. Singh said that it was the responsibility of the Chief Proctor to accompany the troops if at all their “action inside the campus was necessary”.

Warden of Mehboob-ul-Alam Hostel, who is a senior lecturer in the department of Law termed the CRPF action as “unlawful” and added that the university must not be subject to such repression. 

Meanwhile, fresh batches of students in various disciplines blamed the Dean Students Welfare (DSW) for not issuing their identity cards in time. They said the inertia in DSW is putting them to security risk. 

“Had the troopers found the validity of my identity card today, I would have been in big trouble and it’s the DSW which is to be blamed for they have not issued me a card as of now,” said Rashid of Economics department.

FOREST FIRES TRIGGER MINE EXPLOSIONS

HUNDREDS OF FAUNA PERISH IN POONCH FIRE
June 12: Hundreds of wild animals, including deer and langur, have perished in a forest fire raging near the Line of Control in the Mendhar sector of Poonch district since June 9. The blaze detonated scores of land mines, and the civil and the police administration have been put on alert as the fire swept through a huge swathe of forest territory.

The senior superintendent of police for the district, Jagjit Kumar, said that the affected area does not fall within the barbed-wire fenced zone, but extreme care was being taken because the fire threatened to spread to inhabited areas.

Forest department officials are of the opinion that only rains can control the blaze, but the defence spokesman said that it was an accidental bush fire, which had had no impact on the troop deployment along the LoC.

The flames had almost reached the Kartuyan and Jhalaas areas, but the police and local residents checked its advance into inhabited areas, following which it spread to the compartment 230 of the forests. No loss of life or damage to villagers’ property has been reported.

Sources said that the fire had spread over a stretch of 25 to 29 kilometers along the LoC, and compartments 130, 131, 144, 145, 205 and 206 were the worst affected. 

Hundreds of wild animals are believed to have been devoured by the fire, and the divisional forest officer for Poonch, Brij Mohan Sharma, said that fire-fighting operations were being severely hampered by the intense heat generated by the blaze.

The deputy commissioner for the district said that nothing definite could be said about human casualties at present because several areas were difficult to access. 

Forest fires in Naliya, Pather Nallah and Sidrayee areas of PcK spread to this side of the LoC in Balnoie, Salotri, Gani, Sagra Top, Alfa, Nangi Tikre, Golad, Chagla and Gursia areas of Mendhar tehsil of Poonch district, they said.

MISSING OX RETURNED BUT ITS OWNER UNTRACED SINCE HE BEGAN SEARCH
June 6: Khazir Mohmmad, 42, of Hajinar-Karnah (LoC) in Kupwara, left in search of his missing ox. The ox returned on his own but the owner did not. He is still untraced since then. 

Khazir's family alleges that he was arrested by the troops of Gorkha regiment Gund- Behak camp on July 3, 1999, while he was on way to Behak in search of missing ox. 

According to family sources, they had given the ox to a shepherd and he had taken the animal to the Behak. Later, the shepherd informed the family about the missing of ox. 

Khazir a farmer by profession, feeding a family six, left home in search of the ox. "As we came to know about the missing ox, he left home early," said his family members, adding "the ox means a lot for we people, as it is one of the sources for survival." they added. 

After searching for some days Khazir was told by some body that the animal was wandering outside the Gund Behak camp of Gorkha regiment at LoC near Amroohi village. Khazir according to the family members inquired from the troopers about his the animal. 

He was asked to come next day by the troopers and he informed the family that he may the ox the next day. He left the home early on July 3, 1999 to get what the troops had promised. Family of six including four daughters realise what tragedy lay in store for them.

Khazir, according to his family was arrested by the Gorkha troops and the troops told the family that, he would be released after questioning. 

The security men said Khazir was moving under suspicious circumstances and that he was being questioned by them. "We were told by the soldiers to come next day as he was being released," the family members and relatives who visited the camp and who pleaded for the release of Khazir said. 

Visits to the Gorkha camp continued for a month because of the assurances of troops. After one month the family was shocked as troops told them that they have not arrested him. "We do not know anything. Do not come here," the security men told the family. 

The family approached the police but they denied to register the FIR and like hundreds of cases of disappearances supply registered a missing report. 

The family has not given up the search yet. They sold three kanals of land in pursuit of him. The ox returned and was sold and the money was spent for search of Khazir in different jails outside the state.

IED EXPLOSIONS
· IED BLAST IN PATTAN

June 9: Suspected militants detonated a powerful Improvised Explosive Device at Nehalpora Pattan in north Kashmir on June 9 afternoon, police said. 

The IED went off without causing any damage after an Army convoy passed from there.

· IED BLAST ON HANDWARA ROAD

June 21: Militants triggered a landmine blast at Janbazpora on Baramullah-Handwara road today. However, there was no damage.
Police said that unknown militants set off an Improvised Explosive Device (IED) at 3pm at Janbazpora, which however, failed to cause any damage. Sources said that the IED was planted to target security forces vehicles, which use the route more often. The IED exploded when there was no movement of troops in the area.
The IED appeared to have been triggered prematurely, sources said.
· IED BLAST ROCKS MALOORA

 June 24:  A roadside IED blast wounded ten personnel of the Special Operation Group (SOG), a counter-insurgency wing of the Jammu and Kashmir Police, on the city outskirts early this morning.

A police spokesman said they were traveling in a vehicle when the landmine exploded at Makhdoom Colony, Malroo near Mujgund, Shalteng, about 12 km from Srinagar, at around 0510 hrs.   

He said the SOG personnel were returning from a raid in Sumbal area of Ganderbal district when the blast occurred. The vehicle was also damaged in the explosion.

TWO KILLED, 14 INJURED IN DODA GRENADE ATTACK
June 25: Two persons were killed and fourteen others including four women were wounded two of them critically, when an unidentified militant lobbed a hand grenade near old Bus stand of Doda. 

The two critically injured succumbed to their injuries when the chopper failed to reach in time in order to air-lift them to Government Medical College (GMC) hospital Jammu. 

Official sources said that a suspected militant lobbed a hand grenade targeting people who had just reached to Bus-Stand from their respective villages for purchasing ration. 

Reports reaching revealed that panic gripped the area after the blast as the people start running presuming it as a fidayeen attack. 

As the things calm down, the police and local residents shifted the injured to the District Hospital Doda, where the condition of four persons was stated to be critical. 

The deceased have been identified as Nissar Ahmed, 12, son of Mangta of Bresswall Doda and Riyaz Ahmed, 21, son of Abdul Rashid of Ancherki Doda. 

IN GARB OF MILITANCY, 18 RR MEN KILLED OUR DEAR ONES: FAMILIES

HC ISSUES NOTICE TO ARMY CHIEF IN FAKE ENCOUNTER KILLING

June 23: The High Court has issued notice to the Chief of Army Staff, General Officer Commanding Northern Command and senior civil and police officials of the Jammu and Kashmir State on a writ petition filed members of families of four labourers who were allegedly killed by Army personnel of 18 Rashtriya Rifles in Kupwara on April 20, 2004.

 
The notice issued by vacation judge, Justice J P Singh besides making senior Army officials as respondents has included chief secretary of the State, Deputy Commissioner Kupwara, SSP Kupwara, Deputy Commissioner Jammu and 12 officials of 18 RR as respondents in the case. 

 
The families have sought CBI investigation into the alleged fake encounter killing of four labourers by Army and killing of Army captain.

The petition said: the deceased porters became victim of conspiracy of Army officers of Rashtriya Rifles who in order to earn the award and out of turn promotion got labourers killed in fake encounter in the forests of Markool Lolab in District Kupwara under the camouflage of militancy. The petition says the deceased Bhushan Lal, Ram Lal, Satpal and Ashok Kumar resident of Krishna Nagar Pathankot were working as labourers at Gole-Market Gandhi Nagar Jammu.  

On April 12, 2004, the petition says, four Army officials approached the labourers asking them they require their services in the army and they will be paid Rs 6000 monthly apart from lodging and boarding. 

On this the poor labourers showed their willingness to work in Kashmir valley. The petition says after giving their consent to work in valley the labourers were given Rs 1000 each by Army officers with an advice to give it to their families. The labourers met the Army officers at Gole Market Gandhi Nagar as promised on April 13, 2004 and since that day petitioners had no information about the labourers except that they were earning their livelihood in Kashmir. 

However, when after several months when no information of the labourers came to the family members they got perturbed and approached each other to know whether any of the labourers has phoned home. 

Finding answer in negative, one of the petitioner Madan Lal, an ex-Army man approached army officials at Satwari Cantt Jammu asking them to give whereabouts of their wards who had gone to Kashmir valley with some army officials. However, all his efforts didn’t yield any result.

After about over one-year anonymous letters were received by the petitioners in 2005 saying their wards have been killed by the RR men on April 20, 2004 in Kupwara.

The letters shocked the petitioners forcing them to approach authorities including Deputy Commissioner Jammu. 

 On September 6, 2005, the then Deputy Commissioner Jammu wrote to the then Divisional Commissioner Jammu about the plea of the petitioners. The Deputy Commissioner Jammu being Chairman of the District Red Cross Society paid Rs 10,000 each to the affected families and 50 kg rice.

 Being not in position to visit Kupwara, the petition says, the petitioners requested the administration at Jammu to conduct inquiry into whole episode.

 It was by the assistance of Deputy Commissioner Jammu, the petitioners were taken from Jammu to Kupwara where a board of Inquiry was conducted under the command of Brigadier Dixit, the petition said.

The petitioners were called in the meeting where the respondent Colonel Rahul Pandey and Major Vinay Chander were also sitting. The Brigadier showed photographs of deceased to the petitioners for identification. They identify them and thereafter Brigadier, the Colonel and the Major were discussing in English, the petitioners were allowed to sit for about 20 minutes and thereafter they were asked by Brigadier to sit outside, the petition said.

The petition says after coming out of the room, the petitioner came across a young army officer in the camp who asked the petitioners that whether they had come from Jammu and enquired that they had received any letter. 

The said officer assured the petitioners that the person who had written letters will definitely bring cat out of the bag and the culprits will be brought to book and you will definitely get justice.

The petitioners requested the officer about his name but he left immediately from the spot. The petitioners were brought back by the assistance of the SSP Kupwara. The SSP accompanied the petitioners and tried to take them to the spot where deceased were buried but due to heavy cross firing the petitioners were brought back. 

The petition submitted that the petitioners came to know through print media that captain Sumit Kohli died in mysterious circumstances at Kupwara in the same army unit where the petitioner had gone. 

 After going through the newspaper and the photographs of the captain, the petitioners identified that he was the same person who met them outside the office of Brigadier Dixit. 

 The petition apprehends that the respondents might have killed the captain as he was having full knowledge of the fake encounters of the deceased. 

YOUTH KIDNAPPED, KILLED IN MAHORE
JAMMU, June 6: A youth who had recently been selected to Jammu & Kashmir Police (JKP) was kidnapped and then killed by the militants in Lal Draman area of the Doda district while three civilians including two brothers were kidnapped by the militants from Advera village in Mahore tehsil of Reasi district. One of them managed to escape from the clutches of the militants and he informed police about kidnapping of two others. Police claimed to have arrested a Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) militant and one Hizbul Mujahideen (HM) Over Ground Worker (OGW) from separate places in Doda district.

The deceased has been identified as Umar Farooq, son of Gulab Din of Sajjan.

Three civilians were kidnapped by the militants from village Advera in Mahore tehsil of Reasi district last night.They were identified as Bashir Ahmed and Ghulam Mohammad both sons of Jamal Din and Abdul Rashid, son of Ghulam Qadir all residents of Advera.

Abdul Rashid, however, managed to flee from the clutches of the militants and he informed police about the kidnapping.

Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) Reasi JL Sharma said that a search operation has been launched to rescue the kidnapped civilians, which were in progress till late evening.

SSP Doda Manohar Singh said that troops of 159 Territorial Army (TA) and Doda police, acting on a tip-off, arrested Mohammad Razzik, son of Mohammad son of Masronda near Donadi of Lashkar-e-Toiba from Cheera area of Thathri.

One hand grenade, two detonators, 53 AK rounds, two AK magazines, two plastic explosives and five explosive sticks were recovered from the possession of the militant, he added.

Singh claimed that Mohammad Razzik was a close associate of LeT 'district Commander' Abu Jindal a foreign militant presently active in Kither and Thathri areas. The apprehended militant is being put to sustain questioning to know about his other associate militants, their hideouts and activities, he maintained.

Defence spokesman here, however, claimed that LeT ultra Mohammad Razzaq had surrendered before the security forces during an operation at Janer in the forest area of Thathri last evening. He also handed over the ammunition, which he was carrying with him, he added.

In another incident, police apprehended one HM Over Ground Worker Farooq Ahmed Waza son of Wazir Ahmed Waza resident of Abubakar Mohalla in Kishtwar city who was providing food, shelter and logistic support to militants.

SSP Doda said that he was apprehended on the disclosures made by HM militant Nafiz Manwar Ahangar alias Irfan, son of Mohammad Manwar of Sujna Palmar. Nazif was apprehended recently from Kishtwar area and during questioning he disclosed that the Farooq used to provide food, shelter and logistic support to the militants of his outfit in carrying out subversive activities in Kishtwar town like grenade attacks etc. He is being put to sustain questioning to ascertain his involvement in other militancy related activities, he averred.

Defence spokesman here said that based on specific information a cache was recovered from Sahuwala forest in the forest area of Kalai. The recovery included forty-one Under Barrel Gernade Launchers (UBGLs), 17 Chinese hand grenades, one Chinese pistol and one revolver besides other war like stores.

 ‘OUR SON IS INNOCENT’

June 8: Family members of a person have accused police of implicating their son. 

Police said on May 21, SOG, 2 RR and CRPF arrested Waseem Nabi during a raid in Shiva village at Sopur in north Kashmir. Police said that a grenade was recovered from him and claimed that he was a militant of Harkat-ul-Mujahideen who attacked the Army convoy on May 4 on Sopur- Bandipora road. 

However relatives said that police has concocted the story and arrested an innocent person. “He is innocent and was working as contractor,” a local news agency CNS quoted his relatives as saying. 

JAKLI SOLDIER BEATEN UP BY ARMY MEN, FEARS FOR LIFE 

June 11: Mohammad Fayaz Sheikh, 31, of the Jammu and Kashmir Light Infantry (JAKLI) must be wondering why a humble appeal to his fellow soldiers landed him in trouble when he simply beseeched soldiers not to thrash an elderly person whom they were beating up. The episode occurred some two months back when Fayaz, during the course of his two-month-long leave, was on way to Srinagar from Chokibal-Kupwara to Srinagar. 

He wouldn't have thought in his wildest dreams that his humble appeal to his fellow soldiers would infuriate them so much so that they would leave the elderly person aside and would take him to task "for meddling in their affairs." The matter didn't end there, Fayaz had to bear yet more onslaught a few days later when he returned to his village. He was beaten up by the personnel of the same army unit for the second time for his intrusion into their affairs. 

On Monday, June 11, Fayaz had to report back to Chattisgarh where he is currently posted. He did so, but he still feels traumatized and humiliated. Not only this; he how fears for his life. 

And then, Fayaz's case is even more different for he had not tried to save somebody who had inflicted some sort of damage to them or the one who was involved in "anti-national" activities, but an elderly innocent person who was taken to task just because he was grazing his cow on a road-side. 

Fayaz alleged that concerned commanding officer of the unit deployed at Chokibal camp threatened him of dire consequences. "He is unnecessary harassing me and blaming that you are responsible about the whole episode," he said. According to him the concerned camp personnel snatched all belongings from him including his identity card, a gold chain, Rs 10,7,85 and watch. However the identity card was later returned to him by post. 

After the incident Fayaz lodged an FIR in police station Trehgam and the police has not taken any action so far. 

Fayaz recalled the incident when the CO of the unit allegedly ordered his men to thrash him. After the incident he has developed severe pain in his left ribs and neck. "I was hospitalized for two week still I feel difficult to walk. How can I resume my duties," he said. 

ARMY OCCUPIES NEARLY HALF OF KU SOUTH CAMPUS
June 23: The South Campus of Kashmir University in Islamabad district would be a late starter, as army has occupied 350 kanals (nearly 44 acres) of the total 800 kanals (100 acres) on which the campus is built.

The campus constructed at a cost of Rs 450 lakhs is still in a state of siege, despite assurances by the former chief minister Mufti Muhammad Sayed that troops would vacate it.

 Due to shortage of space at Degree College Islamabad the KU officials wanted the south campus to start functioning from July this year.

How can students study in such a massive presence of troopers, a KU official, pleading anonymity, told media. The presence of Army barracks in the backyard of the campus is not only a risk for students but also unhealthy for the academic atmosphere, the official said.  

 A team of KU officials that visited the south campus on Wednesday expressed satisfaction over the work done by the Jammu and Kashmir Projects Construction Corporation, the agency that undertook the construction of campus in 2001. The campus is almost ready in terms of infrastructure, a member of the visiting team said. The civil, electrical and sanitary work is almost complete. The member complained, however, that the troops searched them and also checked their identity cards, forcing them to rethink on opening the campus for students.    

The member said the troopers have occupied the prime land of the campus, including its entrance. Sometime back they (Army) were advised by the university to fence their boundary so that the campus can have a separate entrance but they refused, the member said.   

He had an understanding with Army that they should either vacate the land or fence their portion so that their won稚 be any interference with the functioning of the university, the President of the Peoples Democratic Party, Mehbooba Mufti told media. I don’t know what the current status is. But I will take up the matter up with the Army’s Corps Commander, Mehbooba said. 


The buildings on campus that are ready include the Science and Technology block, administration block, a boys and a girls hostel and a couple of teaching and non-teaching staff quarters. The project had started in April 2005.  

IN GOOL, 61 RR MEN BEAT 17 VILLAGERS TO PULP

June 27: At least 17 villagers were hospitalized after they were beaten by the soldiers of 61 battalion of Rashtriya Rifles in Gool area of Udhampur district on June 26 night, villagers and eyewitnesses said.


Villagers alleged that troopers cordoned off the Lancha Gool area on June 26, night and launched house-to-house searches, and asked them to assemble in an open field.  

They alleged that during the search operation the soldiers ransacked many houses. Then we objected they (soldiers) went berserk and severely beat up men, women and children, Muhammad Mansha a villager told media.

 According to the villagers, the soldiers beat up the villagers for more than two hours.  The injured were shifted to the Sub-District Hospital Gool where condition of most of the inured persons is stated to be critical.
 Numberdar of the village Makhna Gujjar alleged that the police is trying to hush-up the case. Police has refused to register the case against the army, he said, adding, harassment by soldiers has become a routine.
 Station House Officer (SHO) Gool Bushan Singh said, we have received the complaint about the Army action against the villagers but we are trying to solve the issue without registering the FIR.
 District Development Commissioner Ramban AD Shinas assured the protesters for justice. However, the Numberdar of the village Makhana Singh rejected the claim of the DDC about matter being sorted out. We were pressurized to remain silent by Army and police officials and the matter has not been sorted out. We want police to register the case.

CIVILIAN BEHEADED
June 28: Militants allegedly beheaded a civilian at Nowkoot, Dulligam in Banihal area of Ramban district. 

Identified as Shabir Ahmed Koli son of Ismail Koli, a resident of Nowkoot, the civilian was kidnapped by the militants from his house last night and beheaded in surrounding area of Thandi Sha.

Headless body of the civilian was recovered by local people, police this morning, and handed over to his family after post-mortem.

The reason behind his killing has not been ascertained. 

ALLEGED DISAPPEARANCES

· STUDENT DISAPPEARS 

June 6: A student of 5th standard has been missing since June 2, 2007. 


Reports said, Mehraj-ul-Islam Magray son of Abdul Hameed Magray of Ramban was temporarily residing in the house of Professor Manzoor Ahmad Sheikh at Illahi Bagh, Buchpora.

Mehraj left the house on June 2, but didn’t return after that.  

· FARMER DISAPPEARS AFTER PSA QUASHES

June 26: Rafiqa’s joys knew no bounds when a court in May this year quashed the Public Safety Act (PSA) of her husband Ghulam Mohi-ud-Din, 45, a farmer who was arrested by Army last year. But when Mohi-ud-Din did not reach home at Tangamarg, Rafiqa rushed to Udhampur jail only to get a shock. 

The jail authorities told me they had released my husband, but they did not allow me to enter the jail premises. I unsuccessfully searched for him at all possible places. I fear he might have been killed or has been shifted to other jail, Rafiqa told media. 

A mother of six children, including four daughters, Mohi-ud-Din, according to his wife, was framed by the Army for raising his voice against timber smugglers in Tangamarg. My husband was very concerned over illegal felling of trees in Tangamarg forests. The smugglers who enjoyed the patronage of local Army unit many times threatened him of dire consequences. And on November 11, 2006, he was arrested by Army and booked under the PSA, she said. 

Rafiqa approached the court and challenged the PSA. On May 5 (2007) the court quashed Mohi-ud-Din’s PSA with the direction to the state to release him forthwith provided he is not required in any other case. Now, the family has appealed Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad to order an investigation into the matter. Before quashing his PSA, I met my husband in the Udhampur jail. How can now they say he is not there. I want to know where he is. It is my right to ask and the government’s duty to answer, Rafiqa said. 

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS
· INDIA HAS NOT MILITARIZED KASHMIR: INDIAN EXTERNAL AFFAIRS MINISTER

Shimla, June 3: External Affairs Minister, Pranab Mukherjee on June 3, at Shimla dismissed Pakistan’s charge that India had heavily militarised Jammu and Kashmir, saying security forces in the troubled state were trying to restore normalcy. 

I don’t agree with suggestions that there is militarisation in Kashmir. Security forces and law enforcing agencies are maintaining law and order in the state, he told reporters after addressing the concluding session of a two-day conference towards South Asian unity organised by the South Asian Free Media Association (SAFMA). 

Mukherjee said the committee set up by the Centre in April to consider the demand for reduction in troops in the state was doing its job. 

Pakistan has been claiming that India has posted some 7,00,000 troops in Jammu and Kashmir insisting that their strength be reduced. 

· INFILTRATION UP AGAIN, OFFICIALS FEAR A HOT SUMMER AHEAD

June 2: Even as the number of militancy related incidents and the casualties suffered by civilians and armed forces have decreased in Jammu and Kashmir, number of the militants, who have successfully infiltrated from across LoC or have been arrested, have substantially increased in the last five months of the current year. With remarkable upswing in infiltration, authorities are apprehensive of a hot summer. 

Number of infiltrators, which was 140-160 from January 1, 2006, to May 31, 2006, has gone up to 160-200 from January 1, 2006 to May 31, 2007. While around 150 militants are believed to have infiltrated into the Valley, some 30-40 are estimated to have crossed the LoC and International Border in Jammu division. With most of the officials in police as well as security forces not inclined to reveal figures on record, Army and BSF high ups believe that the number of infiltrators has not been more than a hundred this year, which, according to them, has been a "routine" over the last one decade. J&K Police Statistics, however, indicate a remarkable increase in infiltration. According to these figures, 156 militants have infiltrated into the State in the last five months as against 141 in the corresponding period last year. Besides, the number of militants arrested this year is 175 as against 117 from 01-01-2006 to 31-05-2006. 

According to J&K Police statistics, 141 militants have infiltrated into the Valley and 15 in Jammu this year. It was 105: 36 last year. While 152 militants have been arrested in Kashmir and 23 in Jammu this year, it was only 95: 22 last year. Significantly, the number of militants arrested has shown a drastic increase after the infamous Ganderbal fake encounters were exposed earlier this year. Security agencies have not declared the arrest of three Pakistani militants---including one who was a Captain of the Pakistani Army in Kargil War of May 1999 and happens to be a close relative of a Pakistani General as well as the PoK 'Prime Minister' Ateeq Khan--- but they have not eliminated them in fake encounters. Still, the number of militants killed in different gun battles with Police or security forces has been 152 (J: 95, K: 57) in 2007 as against 216 (124: 92) for the same period last year. 

Graph of hard violence has, of course, dipped. While 403 (290: 113) incidents of violence have been recorded this year, it was 658 (475: 183) from 01-01-2006 to 31-05-2006. Compared to 168 (98: 70) civilian killings in 2006, only 67 (45:22) have occurred in the last five months. While 62 (42: 20) Police and security forces personnel had died in the first five months of year 2006, just 49 (39: 10) have got killed in different incidents of separatist violence this year. 

Notwithstanding, the marked decrease in the casualties suffered by civilians and armed forces as well as in total number of incidents, authorities are apprehensive of an upswing in the next five months. With Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad being the one-odd individual in the whole political establishment to stigmatise violence, leaders in all Valley-based parties---notably PDP and NC---have entered into a competition of appeasing militants, their over ground structure and pro-Pakistan sections of the population. 

"We don't count the infiltrators. When we spot them, we either arrest or kill them", says spokesman at headquarters 15 Corps, Lt Col A K Mathur. He has no hesitation to admit that only five militants have been killed in two encounters on the LoC in Kashmir in the last five months. In one incident last moth, they escaped while killing four soldiers. In yet another incident, two militants were killed but four managed to escape back to PoK. According to official figures, 84 militants (Hizb 26, LeT 21, JeM 11, Others 26) have been killed in different gun battles with Police and security forces this year in Valley while 108 (Hizb 15, LeT 53, JeM 06, Others 34) have been arrested in the last five moths. Twenty-five (Forces 17, Police 8) personnel and 44 civilians have also died in militancy related incidents. 

In addition to 13 surrenders, as many as 47 militants have infiltrated through Kupwara routes in the months of March, April and May alone. As many as 60 have infiltrated through Gurez-Bandipore routes and 29 through Uri-Baramulla routes. Doba-Jharian-Zanboor-Thathmulla-Babgel (Uri), Nowshera Naar-Chor Gali-Bonar (Bandipore), Eagle Post-Bogas-Badal, Budnambal-Rangwar-Chowkibal-Tumina-Hachmarg (Kupwara), Budnambal-Chowkibal-Marsar-Hafruda (Handwara), Phulwari-Boniyar-Hanti-Nowshera (Bandipore), Thegan-Shalbathoo-Jumgund- Potkhan- Kachhama-Warsun (Kupwara), Jora-Ragni-Alu-Dumri-Budnambal-Dumyari-Rajwar (Handwara), Gulab Post-Lashdat-Kumkandi (Kupwara), Shalbathoo-Jumgund-Sigranpatti-Dardharray (Kupwara) and Ustad Post-Daradori-Rangwar (Kupwara) have been identified as the routes adopted by most of the 10 to 15 groups of infiltrators this year. 

DIG north Kashmir, B Srinivas, refused to comment on the number of infiltrators though he reveals that thicker groups had been spotted this year. "Earlier, they used to infiltrate in groups of 4 to 6 militants. This year, we have learned about groups of 12 to 15 militants", says he. Yet another official insists that 15-20 strong groups had also been found to have crossed this year. This does not include militants like Muzaffar Ahmed Rather of Khi Jogipora, Kulgam, who was arrested by BSF in the West Bengal district of 24 Pargana in April this year with two more---one from Aurangabad and another from Pakistan. He is currently under interrogation of Anti Terrorist Squad (ATS) of Mumbai Police. 

· INFILTRATION RISING: POLICE

June 7: A police spokesman said the level of infiltration has increased this year. 

Giving details he said there were 214 incidents of infiltration in the state till May 31 this year. It included surrender of 49 infiltrations. Among the incidents of infiltration, 194 occurred in Kashmir and 20 in Jammu. 

One hundred and forty one incidents of infiltration had occurred from January 1 to May 31 last year. Those included 105 in Kashmir and 36 in Jammu. 

According to the spokesman, 168 militants were eliminated up to June 4 this year. Two hundred and twenty one militants were killed during the corresponding period last year. 

The spokesman claimed that militants are avoiding direct contact with security forces and mostly using grenade attacks. 

He added that number of active militants has gone up.

 NO REASON TO PULL OUT TROOPS: LT GEN PANAG
        1,140 MILITANTS OPERATING
June 17: While ruling out the presence of Al–Qaida in Jammu and Kashmir since the distribution of Al Qaida CDs by some people. Lt Gen H S Panag said in Udhampur the militant training camps in Pakistan are still intact and the perpetrators of ‘Jehad’ (struggle) across the border have not changed their agenda, there is no reason to pull out troops from the State. 

"Since the perpetrators of ‘Jehad’ are making statements (of United Jehad Council (UJC) chief Syed Salahuddin) that there is no change in their agenda and also the presence of 52 militant training camps across the border, we can’t say situation is appropriate for troops withdrawal," the Army Commander said. 

Elaborating on the deployment of a total of 3,37,000 Army personnel in the State, he said. "That only 25 per cent are into in depth counter-insurgency operations within the State." 

Of rest, 45 to 50 per cent are deployed along the Line of Control (LoC) and Actual Line of Control (ALC) to counter-infiltration and remaining are at permanent locations (Garrisons), including support services, Lt Gen Panag said. 

"So, only 25 per cent (75,000-80,000) soldiers can be pulled out of State while rest would have to be there," he asserted.

"But when the situation improves, Army’s strength would automatically be decreased," the GOC-in-C observed.

On the strength of militants active in the State, the Army commander said, that data from various agencies have revealed the headcount of terrorists at 1,140. 

When asked about the increased infiltration from across the border, Lt Gen Panag said it was "marginal" "We are trying to check it", he added. 

· NO DEMILITARISATION AVERTS SINHA

June 18: Governor Lt Gen S K Sinha ruled out demilitarization in the state and asked those making such a demand to clarify their stand. 

Talking to a local news agency KNS, he claimed that those demanding de-militarisation do not know its meaning. "Let them clarify as what they demand and later such an issue can be discussed," governor said. 

He advised the leaders advocating demilitarization to first asses the situation at ground level as they must not misinterpret as normalcy the non-occurrence of a violent incident for 10 days in a place. 

· SITUATION IN KASHMIR FAST IMPROVING: GOVERNOR 

June 19: Governor Lt Gen. (retd) SK Sinha told to Russian envoy that the situation in Kashmir is improving fast.


The Governor while meeting on tour to Kashmir Russian Ambassadors headed by Vyacheslav Turbnikov at Raj Bhawan in Srinagar told that the situation in Kashmir is fast improving. The Governor referred to fillip register in tourism, which has increased from 28,000 in 2003 to nearly 6,00,000 last year.   

· INFILTRATION CAUSING CONCERN: DEFENCE MINISTER

June 25: Continuing infiltration across the Line of Control (LoC) in Jammu and Kashmir is a matter of concern, Defence Minister A.K. Antony said in New Delhi on June 25. 

The continuing infiltration is of concern to us. We are taking sufficient precautions to prevent it, Antony said on the sidelines of a function. 

The army is alert. It is always prepared to meet any eventuality, he added.  The defence minister has frequently stated that infiltration from across the frontier is continuing though there has been a fall in the number of militants who try to come across. 

Because of this, he has said, there was no question of reducing troops levels in Kashmir, as some political parties in the state have been demanding. 

In the months of April, May and June, Army figures show that infiltration attempts had almost gone up to more than 100 attempts, almost a three fold increase over that witnessed in the winter months. 
SURVEY ON SUICIDES, FRATRICIDE BY SOLDIERS RELEASED IN DELHI
June 8: Concerned at the increasing incidents of suicides by Army soldiers, the Defence Ministry has come out with a scientific survey with detailed recommendations to overcome the problem among India’s foot soldiers. 

The survey, in Jammu & Kashmir and the country’s Northeast lasted 50 days. The purpose of the survey was to find out why soldiers crack under pressure. 

Now the Army has found the answers to the problem of how to stop its men from turning their guns on themselves or their colleagues—and the answers have been put in a manual. 

Every young Company Commander in counterinsurgency areas now has the manual specially prepared by the Defence Institute of Psychological Research (DIPR) for combat stress management. 

DIPR Director Manas K Mandal told media persons that each officer who directly commands troops in areas like Kashmir is being asked to use the manual to prevent suicidal and fratricidal attacks by spotting stress, be a bit understanding when soldiers ask for leave and rotate their postings between combat and rest stations. 

Minister of State for Defence MM Pallam Raju had recently admitted that the heightened vigilance and work on the part of the forces were taking its toll on them—as the troops and at times officers had turned the gun on their colleagues or themselves in depression or anger. 

“The Defence Institute of Psychological Research, which functions under the Defence Research Development Organisation, has concluded a research on our behest and we are in the process of implementing its recommendations,” he said. The recommendations include more leave and the practice of de-stressing techniques like yoga for the troops. Besides, in the long run, the Army will be careful who it recruits and will screen aspiring soldiers for their psychological profile. 

SOLDIER WHO KILLED 3 SENIORS GETS LIFE IMPRISONMENT

June 24: A soldier has been sentenced to life imprisonment by an Army Court Martial for shooting to death his three senior colleagues in Jammu and Kashmir in October 2006. 

But, the court, for the first time, has held that the motive for fratricide was "grave provocation" as the three Army personnel shot dead had shown continued "deviant factual behaviour" towards the accused, an Army official said. 

The Signalman, who was not named, was just a month-old recruit when he turned his assault carbine on two Hawaldars, including his Platoon Hawaldar and a clerk Lance Naik, on Oct 21, 2006. 

The three died on the spot after which the Signalman turned his carbine on himself. 

However, he was overpowered by two other colleagues, who sustained injuries in the process, the official said. 

The Court Martial proceedings, held in Northern Command Headquarters in Udhampur, while holding the Signalman guilty of shooting his colleagues observed the act was committed under "grave provocation which undermined the soldier’s self-esteem and self-holding". 

The court said the act of shooting came as the soldier was subjected to "continued deviant factual behaviour and assault by the deceived," he said. 

This is the third case of fratricide in which judgement has been pronounced by Army Court Martial on fast-track basis in the past one month. 

In earlier two cases, the Court Martial had pronounced death sentence on two soldiers for killing their seniors in cold blood. 

A high-powered committee, set up by Defence Minister A K Antony to probe hundreds of fratricide cases in the Army since 2001, in its report submitted to the Government has cautioned that in most of the cases of fragging, perceived harassment appears to be the root cause. 

The committee in its recommendations has said that Army postings in counter-insurgency operations should be time-bound and there was a need for officers to strike good rapport with the personnel working under them.
SUICIDES / FRATRICIDAL KILLINGS BY TROOPS

· JAWAN SHOT DEAD BY SENIOR

June 3: In yet another case of fratricidal killing among security forces in Jammu and Kashmir, a Lance Naik of 13 SIKHLI shot dead a Sepoy in Bhimber Gali of Rajouri district.

 
The incident occurred at around 11.50 PM.

The deceased has been identified as Sepoy Milkiat Singh, son of Joga Singh of Kapurthala in Punjab.

An altercation broke out between Lance Naik Harbhajan Singh of 13 Sikh Light Infantry and his junior Sepoy Milkiat Singh. Soon after the incident senior Army officers and other jawans rushed to the area and took the victim to a hospital where he was declared dead.

Sources said, Lance Naik Harbhajan has been arrested and a court of inquiry has been ordered into the case.

Army sources said that Lance Naik Harbhajan Singh fired upon one of the Sepoys of his unit posted in Bhimber Gali area of the LoC while the latter was taking dinner in mess with other collogues. 

"The Lance Naik came in the mess with his service weapon and shot him dead after a verbal dual over some issue," sources added. 

Confirming the killing, Defence spokesman Lt. Col SD Goswami said that Army has ordered a court of inquiry into the incident. 

The death of Sepoy is yet another sorry statistic in a long chain of fratricidal killings and suicides among counter-insurgency forces in Jammu and Kashmir where Jawans away from their homes work under stress.

· POLICEMAN ENDS LIFE

June 15: A policeman shot himself dead inside District Police Lines Jammu evening, officials said. 

The officials said the Constable Vinod Raj son of Shankar Dass shot himself with his service weapon inside one of the barracks in the DPL. 

Sources said that the deceased had heated arguments with Line Officer last evening. He had recently joined back his services after spending few days on leave.

· CRPF TROOPER SUICIDES

June 16: A Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) head constable committed suicide by shooting himself dead with his official rifle in side training centre at Humhama. 


The deceased was identified as G.D Bardaie (belt No. 891150451) of CRPF’s 119 BN Recruit Training Centre – 4 Humhama. 

· ARMY JAWAN COMMITS SUICIDE

June 20: A jawan of Army's medical Corps allegedly committed suicide by consuming some poisonous substance at Poonch this afternoon. 

Identified as P L Katarya of Medical Corps presently posted in an army unit deployed in Poonch.

The motive behind the suicide was not known. However, sources said that the solider had some domestic problem, which led him to take extreme step. 

Defense spokesman when contacted said that a court of inquiry has been ordered into the matter. 

· SOLDIER COMMITS SUICIDE

June 29: One more soldier posted in Jammu and Kashmir committed suicide.

Official sources said Sachinder Kumar, a resident of Baghpet Uttar Pradesh (UP) committed suicide at High Altitude Warfare School at Nilgrath, Ganderbal in the morning. It was however not immediately known why the sepoy took the extreme step.

A police spokesman said bullet-riddled body of Kumar was found in the school. He said proceedings under section 174 CrPC has been initiated.

KILLINGS IN TH EMONTH OF JUNE 2007
	Date 
	Troopers
	Militants
	Civilians
	Others

	June 01 
	

3
	4
	-
	-

	June 02
	-
	-
	-
	-

	June 03
	-
	2
	-
	-

	June 04
	1
	8
	1
	-

	June 05
	-
	1
	1
	-

	June 06
	-
	-
	
	-

	June 07
	-
	2
	-
	-

	June 08
	-
	-
	2
	-

	June 09
	1
	1
	-
	-

	June 10
	1
	-
	-
	-

	June 11
	1
	-
	1
	1 MES employee 

	June 12
	3
	5
	-
	2 dead bodies recovered 

	June 13
	-
	-
	-
	-

	June 14
	-
	2
	-
	1 Released Militant

	June 15
	3
	2
	1
	-

	June 16
	1
	-
	-
	-

	June 17
	-
	-
	-
	-

	June 18
	-
	3
	-
	-

	June 19
	-
	-
	-
	-

	June 20
	1
	1
	1
	2 dead bodies were recovered 

	June 21
	-
	-
	1
	-

	June 22
	-
	-
	-
	-

	June 23
	-
	-
	-
	1 dead body recovered 

	June 24
	1
	5
	-
	-

	June 25
	1
	-
	2
	-

	June 26
	2
	3
	-
	-

	June 27
	-
	1
	-
	-

	June 28
	2
	7
	2
	-

	June 29
	1
	2
	-
	-

	June 30
	-
	2
	1
	-

	Total
	22
	51
	13
	7


	DATE
	EJK / CK
	WOMEN KILLED
	CHILDREN KILLED
	ALLEGED DISAPPEARANCES

	June 02
	-
	-
	-
	1

	June 05
	-
	-
	1
	-

	June 15
	2 (EJK)
	-
	-
	-

	June 18
	1 (EJK)
	-
	-
	-

	June 24
	3 (EJK)
	-
	-
	-

	June 25
	-
	-
	1
	-

	June 27
	-
	-
	1
	-

	TOTAL
	6
	0
	3
	1




CHORONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS IN THE MONTH OF JUNE 2007
June 1: Four militants including two LeT militants, two army personnel and two policemen were killed in separate incidents of violence  across the state. 

June 2: No incident of violence reported.  

June 3: Two Al Badr militants were killed in an encounter with troops and police at Wuyan area of Pulwama district while a soldier shot dead his colleague in Jammu’s Poonch district. 

June 4: Eight militants including two of HM, army soldier and a civilian were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state. 

June 5: One militant and a 10-yer-old boy were killed in separate incidents of violence in the state. 

June 6: Unidentified gunmen shot dead a man in Jammu’s Doda district.  

June 7: Two militants of HM identified as Ghulam Mohammad Rather s/o Ghulam Qadir Rather of Nikloora, Litter and Farooq Ahmad Matoo s/o Ghulam Hassan of Gund, Handoo, Meminder, Shopian were killed in an encounter with troops in Pulwama district. 

June 8: Father son duo were killed by unknown gunmen in two separate places in Rajpora, Pulwama district. The deceased were identified as Saif-ud-Din Paswal s/o Nek Alam and Ghulam Hassan Paswal, 28. 
June 9: One HM militant was killed in an encounter in frontier district of Kupwara while dead body of SPO was fished-out from river Jehlum at Bijbehara.  

June 10: One SOG personnel identified as Manzoor Ahmad Parra of Tapper Bala Pattan was shot dead by unknown gunmen at Pattan

June 11: A police cop namely, Khursheed Malik s/o Mohammad Sultan was short dead by gunmen at Ramban and a kin of a surrendered militant Mohammad Saleem was also shot dead by the gunmen in the same area. While a dead body of Military Engineer Service (MES) employee identified as Mushtaq Ahmad Naikoo son of Ismaiel Naikoo Sharsali. His body bore burn torture marks.  . 

June 12: Three army men and three militants in an encounter at Andernar, Kulgam in frontier district of Kupwara meanwhile one more  gun battle between militants and troops near the LOC in Gulmarg sector claimed the lives of two militants. Two dead bodies  one of Ghulam Rasool, 65, s/o of Abdul Karim was recovered from Lastiyal, while another body was recovered from Parimpora in the city outskirts.  

June 13: No incident of violence reported from any part of the state. 

June 14: Police recovered a bullet-ridden body of an Al-Badr militant from Harmain, Shopian this morning. Police identified the slain militant as Mudasir Naikoo of Aloora while an unidentified militant was killed in an encounter with troops in Bandipora. However, suspected militants gunned down a released militant, namely Farooq Ahmed Sheikh S/o Khazir Mohammad Sheikh R/o Garbad Warnow at his home in Lolab valley of Kupwara district

June 15: Army soldier, one CRPF trooper died in an ambush laid by the militants at main chowk in Sopore, while two LeT  militants identified as Abu Hafiz and Abu Tufail, both residents of Pakistan, were killed in an encounter at Gojbugh locality of Nowgam were killed in an encounter and unknown gunmen shot dead one Farooq Ahmad Sheikh s/o Khazir Mohammed, resident of Gadwad Lolab at his residence in north Kashmir Kupwara district. However, one police constable Vinod Raj son of Shankar Dass committed suicide by shooting himself dead in District Police Lines, Jammu. 
June 16: A Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) head constable G.D Bardaie (belt No. 891150451) of CRPF’s 119 BN Recruit Training Centre – 4 Humhama committed suicide by shooting himself dead with his official rifle in side training centre at Humhama. 

June 17: Four soldiers and army man were injured in a grenade explosion.

June 18: Three militants of LeT of whom two were identified as Chotta Furqan and Hilal Ahmed of Narwara Budgam were killed in an encounter with troops in Beerwah at Budgam district. On June 19, residents of Budgam protest the killing of one of the killed Hilal Ahmad who they alleged was killed in fake encounter by troops.

June 19: No incident of killing was reported from any part of state. 

June 20: One HuM militant Shaheen and a civilian Ghulam Nabi Zargar of Bandipora were killed when an encounter triggered in the area between militants and troops. Meanwhile, a soldier of Army’s Medical Corps committed suicide at Poonch. 

June 21: Hizbul Mujahideen claimed that its activists shot dead a gunman who was involved in the killing of two civilians at Kellar in  Pulwama district. The slain gunman was identified as Liaqat Khatana son of Mohammad Khatan, a resident of Bharmuna, Kalakote, Rajouri

June 22: Police recovered bodies of two unidentified militants near Arjun Post Shamas Bari near Line of Control (LoC) in frontier district of Kupwara on June 20 night. 

June 23: No incident of violence reported. 

June 24: Five militants and a trooper were killed in an encounter in frontier district of Kupwara while three militants were killed near line of control in Uri sector in a fake encounter. The identity of militants were not ascertained. Moreover, police recovered dead body of a youth Gami, 22, from Gool. He was abducted by unknown gunmen on June 23.  

June 25: A police cop was killed after abduction by the cadres of HM at Tral while two civilians including a minor identified as Nissar Ahmed, 12, son of Mangta of Bresswall Doda and Riyaz Ahmed, 21, son of Abdul Rashid of Ancherki Doda were killed in a grenade explosion in Doda.

June 26: Two army personnel and one militant of HuM Ishtiyaq Ahmad Bhat s/o Mohammad Ramzan Bhat were killed in an encounter at Bandipora while two militants were killed in an encounter at frontier district of Kupwara the identity of one of the militants was ascertained as Muzaffar Ahmad Chopan.

June 27: One HM militant was killed in an encounter with troops in Ansi Dhok area of Rajouri. 

June 28: A JCO of Army Suraj Singh was killed and at least 22 soldiers injured in a militant ambush in Kupwara district while four militants and a trooper were killed in a gun-battle near Zorawar Sector in Uri. Moreover, police claimed three unidentified militants and girl Fahmida daughter of Ghulam Mohi-ud-Din were killed in Hyhama, Kupwara while villagers contested police claim and alleged that the three were killed in fake encounter and a civilian was beheaded by suspected militants Nowkot Dulligam, Banihal. The deceased was identified as Shabir Ahmad Koli s/o Ismail Koli.  

June 29: Two unidentified militants were killed in an encounter with troops in frontier district of Kupwara while a trooper posted at Ganderbal, Srinagar committed suicide. 

June 30: Two unidentified militants were killed in an encounter with troops in frontier district of Kupwara while bullet-ridden body of an abducted poultry farm dealer Ali Mohammad Sheikh s/o Habibullah of Pulwama was recovered from outskirts of Pulwama.


It has become a routine that soldiers pose as militants and come to our homes and demand food and shelter and then next day beat us, the protesters said.    


Commandant of Mountain Brigade V K Garg told media that the army has filed a case under its own rules and if found guilty, both of them would be punished.


Lt Gen admitted occurrence of human rights violations by Army saying these things happen in disturbed areas





WOMEN – CHILDREN KILLED


June 5: Ten-year-old boy namely, Basit Ramzan Malla s/o Mohammad Ramzan Malla of Gund, Dachan, Bandipora lost his life when an explosion took place in the compound of his house in Bandipora. 


June 25: Nissar Ahmed, 12, son of Mangta of Bresswall Doda injured critically and later succumbed to his injuries he received in a grenade explosion in Doda. The grenade was lobbed by suspected militants.  


June 27: A girl identified as girl as Fahmida daughter of Ghulam Mohi-ud-Din was killed when she caught up in crossfire between militants and troopers in Hyhama, Kupwara. 





I have been to many conflict ridden areas in South America, Tibet, Argentina, but never faced any problems. I would think many times before getting tourists to Valley, she said.





YEAR WISE PSA DETENTIONS


1990 –  942


1991 –  1070


1992 –  976


1993 –  1112


1994 –  2118


1995 –  1819


1996 –  1560


1997 –  414


1998 –  460


1999 –  441


2000 –  503


2001 –  318


2002 –  504


2003 –  401


2004 –  510


2005 –  402


2006 -  920
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